THE ROLES OF MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTORS AND GAMMA-AMINOBUTYRIC ACID IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF EXERCISE PRESSOR REFLEX DYSFUNCTION IN HYPERTENSION

APPROVED BY SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

Scott A. Smith, Ph.D.

Jere H. Mitchell, M.D.

Rolf A. Brekken, Ph.D.

Pradeep P. Mammen, M.D.

Gary A. Iwamoto, Ph.D.

Craig G. Crandall, Ph.D.

DEDICATION

I would like to thank my mentors, Drs. Scott Smith and Jere Mitchell, and the members of my Graduate Committee, Drs. Rolf Brekken, Pradeep Mammen, Craig Crandall, and Gary Iwamoto. Their insight was invaluable throughout the Ph.D. process. I also would like to thank my friends and my family who have been there for me through the ups and downs of this journey. Without them, I couldn't and wouldn't have been able to get to this point.

THE ROLES OF MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTORS AND GAMMA-AMINOBUTYRIC ACID IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF EXERCISE PRESSOR REFLEX DYSFUNCTION IN HYPERTENSION

by

RYAN MICHAEL DOWNEY

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas

Dallas, Texas

August, 2015

THE ROLES OF MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTORS AND GAMMA-AMINOBUTYRIC ACID IN THE PATHOGENESIS OF EXERCISE PRESSOR REFLEX DYSFUNCTION IN HYPERTENSION

Publication No. <u>5</u>

Ryan Michael Downey, Ph.D.

The University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas, 2015

Supervising Professor: Scott A. Smith, Ph.D.

Hypertension is a global epidemic. Over 40% of the world population has elevated blood pressures and estimates predict this number to increase 60% in the next 10 years to over 1 billion individuals. While drug therapies are available to a large number of these patients, the treatment that consistently decreases the signs and symptoms of hypertension is exercise. However, exercise in hypertensive patients carries an elevated risk for myocardial ischemia, infarction, cardiac arrest, stroke, and possibly death during and after physical activity due to the exaggerated elevations in blood pressure and sympathetic activity that accompany the physical exertion. Understanding the mechanisms through which hypertension causes a dysregulation in blood pressure management during physical activity is paramount if we are to find safe ways for patients to benefit from exercise without dangerous complications. Our lab has strongly linked hypertension to a dysfunction in the exercise pressor reflex (EPR), a cardiovascular control system that originates within exercising muscle. However, the mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of this dysfunction remain largely undetermined. To address this gap in knowledge studies were performed to investigate the roles of two logical candidates for the generation of EPR over-activity in hypertension: 1) aldosterone acting via mineralocorticoid receptors, and 2) gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) acting within the muscle reflex processing center located in the solitary tract nucleus (NTS) of the brainstem. The role of aldosterone and mineralocorticoid receptors was investigated by feeding normotensive and hypertensive rat a diet containing normal chow, or the mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists spironolactone (SPIR) or eplerenone (EPL). The role of central GABA was investigated in normotensive and hypertensive rats by microdialyzing the GABA synthesis inhibitor (3-mercaptopropionic acid), the GABA_A receptor antagonist (bicuculline), or the GABA_B receptor antagonist (saclofen) into the NTS. The results of the studies demonstrated that: 1) SPIR and EPL can be used as effective treatments to reduce the exaggerated cardiovascular responses to EPR activation in hypertension, and 2) GABA maintains the ability to modulate muscle mechanoreflex activity (a component of the EPR) within the NTS via activation of GABA_A receptors in normotension with this ability being compromised after the development of hypertension.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER ONE: Introduction	1
Hypertension & the Cardiovascular Response to Exercise	1
Hypertension	1
Exercise & Hypertension	2
The Benefits of Exercise	4
CHAPTER TWO: Review of the Literature	7
Cardiovascular Control During Exercise	7
The Exercise Pressor Reflex in Hypertension	11
EPR and Hypertension	11
Metaboreflex in Hypertension	
Mechanoreflex in Hypertension	14
The Role of Mineralocorticoid Receptors in Cardiovascular Control	16
Aldosterone	16
Mineralocorticoid Receptors	19
The Role of GABA in Cardiovascular Control	
GABA	
The Central Actions of GABA	21
The Role of Angiotensin on GABAergic Neurons	
The Role of GABA in Exercise	

Scientific Rationale for Current Studies	25
CHAPTER THREE: Methodology	28
Animal Models	28
Mineralocorticoid Receptor Studies	28
GABA Studies	28
Ethics and Approvals	29
Experimental Procedures and Protocols	29
General Surgical Procedures	29
Specific Surgical and Experimental Procedures	31
Data Acquisition	38
Statistical Analysis	39
CHAPTER FOUR: Results	41
Mineralocorticoid Receptor Studies	41
Characterization of Animals on Experimental Diets	41
Effects of Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist Treatment on the Cardiovascular	
Response to EPR Activation	42
Effects of Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist Treatment on the Cardiovascular	
Response to Mechanoreflex Activation	49
GABA Studies	49
Characterization of Animals	49
Effects of GABA Synthesis Inhibition (3-Mercaptopropionic Acid) on the Cardiovasc	ular
Response to Mechanoreflex Activation	50

Effects of a GABA _A Receptor Antagonist (Bicuculline) on the Cardiovascular Response	to
Mechanoreflex Activation	51
Effects of a GABA _B Receptor Antagonist (Saclofen) on the Cardiovascular Response to	
Mechanoreflex Activation	51
CHAPTER FIVE: Conclusions and Recommendations	. 61
Mineralocorticoid Receptor Studies	. 61
Effects of Treatment with Mineralocorticoid Receptor Agonists	. 61
Mineralocorticoid Receptors and the Exercise Pressor Reflex	62
Mineralocorticoid Receptors and the Muscle Mechanoreflex	63
Recommendations	. 64
GABA Studies	. 66
Central-Acting GABA Synthesis and the Muscle Mechanoreflex	. 66
Role of Central GABA _A Receptors in Modulating Mechanoreflex Function	. 67
Role of Central GABA _B Receptor in Modulating Mechanoreflex Function	. 67
Recommendations	68
Summary Remarks	68
Bibliography	71

PRIOR PUBLICATIONS

Mizuno, M., Downey, R.M., Mitchell, J.H., Auchus, R.J., Smith, S.A., & Vongpatanasin, W. (2015) Aldosterone and Salt Loading Independently Exacerbate the Exercise Pressor Reflex in Rats. *Hypertension*. In press. <u>http://doi.org/10.1161/hypertensionaha.115.05810</u>.

Kim, Y.T., Kanneganti, A., Nothnagle, C., Landrith, R., Mizuno, M., Downey, R.M., Wijesudara, M.B.J., Smith, S., & Romero-Ortega, M.I. (2015). Microchannel electrode stimulation of deep peroneal nerve fascicles induced mean arterial depressor response in hypertensive rats. *Bioelectronic Medicine*. In revision.

Smith, S. A., Downey, R. M., Williamson, J. W., & Mizuno, M. (2014). Autonomic dysfunction in muscular dystrophy: a theoretical framework for muscle reflex involvement. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *5*, 47. <u>http://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2014.00047</u>

Murphy, M. N., Mizuno, M., Downey, R. M., Squiers, J. J., Squiers, K. E., & Smith, S. A. (2013). Neuronal nitric oxide synthase expression is lower in areas of the nucleus tractus solitarius excited by skeletal muscle reflexes in hypertensive rats. *American Journal of Physiology. Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, *304*(11), H1547–57.

http://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.00235.2012

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS IN PRIOR PUBLICATIONS

Leal, A. K., Mitchell, J. H., & Smith, S. A. (2013). Treatment of muscle mechanoreflex dysfunction in hypertension: effects of L-arginine dialysis in the nucleus tractus solitarii. *Experimental Physiology*, *98*(9), 1337–1348. <u>http://doi.org/10.1113/expphysiol.2012.071563</u>

LIST OF FIGURES

FIGURE 1: THE NEURAL INPUTS REGULATING AUTONOMIC ACTIVITY DURING	ì
EXERCISE	9
FIGURE 2: ILLUSTRATION OF THE PREPARATION USED TO ACTIVATE THE EPR	. VIA
ELECTRICAL STIMULATION	33
FIGURE 3: PLACEMENT OF THE MICRODIALYSIS PROBE WITHIN THE	
MEDULLARY BRAINSTEM.	36
FIGURE 4: MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTOR STUDIES GENERAL SCHEME	37
FIGURE 5: GABA STUDIES GENERAL SCHEME	38
FIGURE 6: CONSCIOUS MEAN ARTERIAL BLOOD PRESSURE	44
FIGURE 7: BASELINE MAP IN WKY AND SHR ANIMALS POST-DECEREBRATION	44
FIGURE 8: MAP AND HR RESPONSE TO ACTIVATION OF THE EPR	45
FIGURE 9: INDIVIDUAL MAP AND HR RESPONSES TO ACTIVATION OF THE EPR	46
FIGURE 10: MAP AND HR RESPONSE TO ACTIVATION OF THE MECHANOREFLE	X 47
FIGURE 11: INDIVIDUAL MAP AND HR RESPONSES TO ACTIVATION OF THE	
MECHANOREFLEX VIA PASSIVE MUSCLE STRETCH	48
FIGURE 12: MICRODIALYSIS PROBE PLACEMENT	54
FIGURE 13: MAP AND HR POST MICRODIALYSIS OF 3-MP IN SHR	55

FIGURE 16: MAP AND HR POST MICRODIALYSIS OF BIC IN WKY	58
FIGURE 17: MAP AND HR POST MICRODIALYSIS OF SAC IN SHR	59
FIGURE 18: MAP AND HR POST MICRODIALYSIS OF 3-MP IN WKY	60

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE 1: MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTOR ANIMAL MORPHOLOGY AND	
CHARACTERISTICS	43
TABLE 2: GABA ANIMAL MORPHOLOGY AND CHARACTERISTICS	53

CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

HYPERTENSION & THE CARDIOVASCULAR RESPONSE TO EXERCISE

Hypertension

Hypertension is characterized by both an elevated resting arterial blood pressure (BP) and an exaggerated rise in BP during exercise (57, 66, 105, 147, 206). At rest, elevations in BP are commonly defined as a chronic systolic pressure reading of 140 mmHg or greater with a diastolic pressure of 90 mmHg or more (90). Recent surveys of the US population showed the prevalence of hypertension in 2011-2012 to be 29.1% (179). Just three years later, that number is now estimated to be 32.6% of US adults aged 20 or older (170). The cost of treating high blood pressure in the US, which includes health care services, medications, and labor costs due to hypertension-related causes (missed work hours, workers' compensation, health benefits, etc.), totals over \$46 billion per year (170). This issue is not limited to the United States. Global prevalence of hypertension has been cited at 26.4% of adults 18 and older as of 2000 (106), and the World Health Organization reported in 2014 that over 40% of the population now has elevated blood pressures (153, 261). Nor is this a problem faced just by adults. Between 2003 and 2006, the US prevalence of prehypertension (defined as 120-139 mmHg systolic pressure, 80-89 mmHg diastolic pressure (90)) was approximately 14% in boys and approximately 6% in

girls among children and adolescents aged 8–17 years. Moreover, the prevalence of hypertension in children within this age range was estimated to be 3–4% in various studies (95, 181). Clearly, the prevention and adequate treatment of hypertension could significantly impact both the general health of the world's population, as well as the global economy.

Exercise & Hypertension

Exercise produces intensity-dependent elevations in heart rate (HR), cardiac output (CO), and blood pressure (BP), which are caused in large part by decreases in parasympathetic nerve activity (PSNA) and increases in sympathetic nerve activity (SNA) (167, 186, 215, 229). These exercise-induced autonomic adjustments are caused by both a central neural drive, termed central command, as well as by a reflex arising in contracting skeletal muscle, termed the exercise pressor reflex (EPR) (26, 120). Additionally, the autonomic adjustments evoked by central command and the EPR are continually modulated by baroreflexes (143).

The EPR has two functional components: the muscle metaboreflex and mechanoreflex. The metaboreflex is activated when chemically-sensitive receptors are slowly stimulated by the metabolic byproducts of muscle contraction such as lactic acid (98, 199), adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (111), and prostaglandin E2 (98, 199). Stimulation of these metaboreceptors predominately activates group IV (C-fibers) sensory afferents innervating skeletal muscle leading to an increase in SNA. The mechanoreflex is activated when mechanically-sensitive

receptors in skeletal muscle respond quickly to deformation of their receptive fields via stretchactivated ion channels (116, 167, 229). Animal studies have shown that these skeletal muscle mechanoreceptors primarily activate thin fiber group III (mechanically-sensitive A- δ fibers) muscle afferents that reflexively increase sympathetic outflow (3, 102, 146, 149, 160).

In normotensive individuals, systolic and mean pressures rise during dynamic exercise as cardiac output and peripheral vasoconstriction in non-active muscles increases. Simultaneously, the vasculature in exercising muscles vasodilates leading to an overall decline in systemic vascular resistance (69). However, in hypertension, the normal physiological decline in systemic vascular resistance during exercise is greatly attenuated or absent (30, 57, 62, 140). This results in an exaggerated increases in BP (30, 32, 140, 257). It has been demonstrated in animal models of human hypertension that the EPR becomes overactive, contributing significantly to the exaggerated increases in BP observed during exercise (114, 169, 229).

The noted increases in peripheral resistance at rest and during exercise in hypertension, along with reduced arterial and left ventricular compliance, can cause asynchronous ventricular wall contraction in the heart leading to left ventricular hypertrophy (39, 164). Further, excessive BP elevation during physical activity can contribute to impaired exercise tolerance in hypertensive patients even in the absence of coronary artery disease or left ventricular dysfunction (39, 135, 147, 180). Combined, these maladaptive responses to hypertension have been shown to be associated with elevated risks for myocardial ischemia, infarction, cardiac arrest, stroke, and

possibly death during and after physical activity (78, 116, 144, 162, 163). These associative adverse affects of exercise in hypertension have been confirmed by numerous epidemiological studies in human patient populations (44, 113, 132, 134, 237).

The Benefits of Exercise

While studies have shown physical activity to have limited success in lowering body mass index (BMI), exercise has been associated with improved body composition. Exercise increases lean mass in most individuals and reduces fat mass in overweight and obese individuals. Resistance exercises may particularly benefit those who are overweight or obese (34). This is particularly important in regards to the current climate of rising obesity rates to epidemic levels in Western civilization (266). Other significant benefits of exercise include increased insulin sensitivity (13), a reduced risk of prostate and breast cancer (129), increased prevention of osteoporosis, retardation of the onset of dementia (123), and improvements in stamina and self-confidence (220). Additionally, exercise has been extensively linked in youth and adults to decrease stress and yield improvements in depression, anxiety, and other mental diseases. (15, 65, 138, 216, 220, 247).

In specific regard to the cardiovascular benefits of light or moderate intensity exercise, it is associated with significant decreases in systolic and diastolic blood pressure in both normotensive and hypertensive individuals (107). Improved blood pressure and cardiovascular

health has been shown to have a linear relationship with decreased risk of morbidity and mortality (141). It has been shown in rats that exercise training reverses the increased sympathetic and decreased parasympathetic nerve activity prevalent at rest. These corrections improve abnormal baroreflex function in hypertension and contribute to lower resting mean BP and HR (122, 159). Vascular resistance is lowered by decreases in arterial stiffness and increases in arterial compliance, both of which have the net effect of lowering blood pressure (95). The overall status of the heart is improved through remodeling during exercise leading to decreases in left ventricular mass, as well as lowered cardiac output and heart rate (245, 254, 270). Exercise has also been shown to better the blood lipid profile (108), leading to improvements in long-term vascular disease.

The amount of exercise required to achieve these benefits has been shown to be relatively modest consisting of about 2 h of exercise at easy to moderate intensities over three bouts per week. Examples highlighted have been brisk walking, easy jogging at a pace of 3-5 mph, or cycling at a pace of 10-12 mph (128, 214). Even lower intensities of exercise show a beneficial prognostic impact compared with completely sedentary lifestyles with reductions of mortality of up to 12-20% being demonstrated (115). Current recommendations for exercise are higher: the American Heart Association and the British Heart Foundation recommend that individuals undertake an exercise program of at least 30 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic activity at least 5 days per week, and moderate-to-high intensity muscle-strengthening activity at least 2 or more days per week for additional health benefits (7, 14). These benefits cannot be understated.

In terms of longevity of life, individuals who engage in regular exercise live at least 3 years longer than sedentary counterparts (22, 23). When these factors are taken into account, exercise may be considered the most effective, accessible, and cheapest therapy a physician can prescribe.

The potentially adverse affects of exercising with hypertension (up to, and including death) create a serious catch-22. The only treatment that consistently and predictably decreases the signs and symptoms of hypertension is exercise. In fact, the benefits of exercise have been well enumerated, not only in hypertension, but also in almost every other marker of health. Understanding the mechanisms through which hypertension causes a dysregulation in blood pressure management during physical activity is paramount if we are to find safe ways for patients to benefit from exercise without any dangerous complications. Our lab and others have strongly linked hypertension to a exaggeration in the EPR response (102, 125, 167, 173, 229, 231). The current set of studies presented in this dissertation explores one relatively new area of research — the role of mineralocorticoid receptors in aldosterone-related hypertension — and one novel area of hypertension control — the role of GABA signaling — in the function of the EPR in hypertension.

CHAPTER TWO: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

CARDIOVASCULAR CONTROL DURING EXERCISE

Changes in circulatory hemodynamics are modulated by adjustments in autonomic nerve activity during exercise to meet the demands of working skeletal muscle. The autonomic nervous system mediates these cardiovascular responses to exercise by increasing SNA and decreasing parasympathetic nerve activity via three neural mechanisms: central command, the exercise pressor reflex (EPR), and the arterial baroreflex (227). It is worth noting that hemodynamic responses for dynamic and static exercise differ. In dynamic exercise, rapid, moderate increases of BP are modulated by elevations in HR, stroke volume (SV), and cardiac output (CO), while total peripheral resistance is decreased. Combined, these hemodynamic adjustments ensure adequate oxygen and nutrients are delivered to the working muscle (161, 202). Static exercise, on the other hand, is characterized by much larger increases in BP due primarily to HR-mediated increases in CO without concomitant reductions in total peripheral resistance (TPR) (161). It is these autonomically mediated adjustments in the cardiovascular system that allow muscle work to be performed in both forms of exercise.

In 1894, it was first suggested that the cardiovascular responses to exercise were mediated by neural mechanisms (92). These theories were supported in 1913 when Krogh and Linhard

quantified the rapid increases in ventilation and pulse rates at the onset of voluntary exercise that clearly required an operating system of great speed (119). In kind, these studies showed that neural impulses from the motor cortex (termed cortical irradiation) were the likely source for these rapid responses. By 1972, cortical irradiation (renamed central command) had been well established in animal and human studies as a feed-forward neural mechanism that transmitted excitatory impulses to descending motor neurons for locomotion and in a parallel fashion activated cardiovascular control circuits within the medulla oblongata in response to exercise (63). As an example, The ability of increased central motor drive to enhance the cardiovascular response to exercise was demonstrated through the use of partial neuromuscular blockade in which physical activity required a greater central effort (9, 130). However, additional studies emerged that showed central command was only one aspect of a larger, more complicated system.

In 1917, Krogh and Linhard also demonstrated in humans that reflex input from the skeletal muscle itself might be involved in mediating the cardiovascular response to exercise. They observed that increases in HR and ventilation could be induced in response to involuntary leg contraction caused by electrical stimulation; a maneuver which reduced and/or eliminated cortical irradiation (*i.e.* central command) (120). Further support of this came in the late 1930s when Alam and Smirk showed that dynamic exercise-evoked increases in BP and HR were sustained after a bout of exercise when venous outflow from the formerly contracting muscle was prevented (3, 5). Conversely, when increases in cardiac output during exercise were



Figure 1: The neural inputs regulating autonomic activity during exercise. Central command and the exercise pressor reflex (EPR) provide input to cardiovascular (CV) centers in the brainstem to increase sympathetic nerve activity (SNA) and decrease parasympathetic nerve activity (PSNA) during exercise. The active carotid and aortic baroreflexes modulate the signals evoked by central command and the EPR. These three inputs are integrated to adjust CV activity to meet the metabolic demands of exercise (**225**). The muscle mechanoreflex and metaboreflex are active components of the EPR. CP, cardiopulmonary; BARO, baroreflex.

enhanced by digitalis, potentiating leg blood flow, the cardiovascular responses elicited were attenuated (213). This concept of cardiovascular reflexes originating in skeletal muscle was further validated when non-centrally mediated elevations in BP and HR were not present in a patient with a spinal cord lesion (4). This skeletal muscle reflex has now been well studied and documented in the literature and is known as the exercise pressor reflex (EPR) (160).

The arterial baroreflex modulates the circulatory response to exercise induced by central command and the EPR. Very early studies examining the baroreflex first showed the inverse relationship between HR and BP regulated by this neural mechanism (e.g. as BP increases, HR decreases and vice versa) (145). Investigations identified the components of the reflex arc, consisting of unencapsulated free nerve endings present at the medial-adventitial border of blood vessels in the carotid sinus bifurcation and aortic arch, now known as the carotid and aortic baroreflexes, respectively (77, 143, 218). The Hering nerve, a branch of the glossopharyngeal nerve, and small vagal branches conduct impulses from the carotid and aortic baroreceptors, respectively. These inputs are integrated in the solitary tract nucleus (nucleus tractus solitarii, NTS) in the medulla oblongata (2). The baroreceptors function in a negative feedback loop that modulate beat-to-beat variations in BP by adjusting HR, SV, and TPR (76, 97, 143). While initially thought to be switched off during exercise (142, 188), it has since been shown that the baroreflex remains functional and resets to operate around the higher BPs induced by physical activity (46, 117, 193). Thus, the baroreflex maintains the ability to fine tune and modulate the cardiovascular responses to exercise.

The critical take-away point from this overview is that the three input systems — central command, the EPR and the arterial baroreflex — all contribute significantly to the autonomic regulation of cardiovascular activity during exercise. They each act independently, transmitting neural afferents directly to the medulla oblongata, as well as in concert, modulating the function of one another. This system creates a way for the body to fine-tune and adjust to the metabolic demands of the body during exercise.

THE EXERCISE PRESSOR REFLEX IN HYPERTENSION

EPR and Hypertension

Exercise in hypertension evokes excessive increases in BP from a chronically elevated baseline (189, 190). Compared to normotensive controls, selective activation of the EPR elicits markedly exaggerated increases in pressor and tachycardic responses in several rat models of hypertension (essential hypertension, prenatally programmed hypertension, and angiotensin II-induced hypertension) (114, 169, 229). These elevated cardiovascular responses exist at maximal and submaximal exercise intensities. In addition, the enhanced circulatory responses are accompanied by augmented increases in renal sympathetic nerve activity (rSNA) (167, 229). Exaggerated pressor, tachycardic, and sympathetic responses during muscle contraction in human hypertension have also been demonstrated. For example, augmented increases in BP and SNA were shown in hypertensive adults during low-intensity dynamic handgrip exercise (257).

These studies suggest that the abnormally increased EPR-induced elevations in SNA mediate the exaggerated cardiovascular response to exercise in hypertension. Additionally, these studies have also suggested that in hypertensive patients (32, 64, 209) and rat models of hypertension (127, 168, 207), EPR dysfunction is driven by the pathogenesis of abnormal muscle metaboreflex and muscle mechanoreflex activity (148, 156, 228, 230).

Metaboreflex in Hypertension

The autonomic neural responses to muscle contraction are mediated, in part, by the accumulation of metabolites within skeletal muscle that activate the group IV afferent fibers comprising the sensory arm of the metaboreflex component of the EPR. Activation of the metaboreflex occurs during both dynamic and static exercise. However, blood flow to active muscle during isometric exercise decreases, attenuating the clearance of metabolites produced during contraction which enhances the stimulation of metabolically-sensitive afferent neurons (174). Several metabolites present in exercising muscle, including potassium, lactic acid, bradykinin, byproducts of arachidonic acid metabolism, and diprotonated phosphate, have been identified as being capable of generating pressor and tachycardic responses to muscle contraction (198, 201, 204, 223, 235). These metabolites activate specific receptors, including acid sensing ion channels (ASICs) and transient receptor potential vanilloid 1 (TRPv1) receptors (99, 155, 230, 238), localized on group III and IV afferent sensory fibers within skeletal muscle. Additionally, ATP activates the muscle

metaboreflex (68, 133) via purinergic ligand-gated ion channels (P2X receptors) that have been localized to dorsal root ganglion cells innervating skeletal muscle (19, 25, 131, 136, 259, 262).

In animals models of hypertension, the metaboreflex has been shown to elicit exaggerated pressor and tachycardic responses to electrically induced muscle contraction (168). Introduction of ischemia during muscle contraction in these studies served to "supra" stimulate the metaboreflex by retarding the removal of metabolites from the active skeletal muscle. It was also shown that the augmented cardiovascular responses to supra-stimulation of the metaboreflex were due, at least in part, to increases in SNA (168). These findings were corroborated by additional studies in which selective activation of metabolically sensitive afferent fibers by administration of capsaicin into the hindlimb arteries caused potentiated increases in BP, HR, and rSNA in SHRs compared to WKY rats(127, 168). Taken together, our lab and others have shown that the muscle metaboreflex contributes significantly to the abnormal autonomic responses to skeletal muscle contraction in hypertension.

Investigations designed to examine the exaggerated pressor and tachycardic responses to physical exertion in hypertensive humans support the concept that metaboreflex over-activity activity partially contributes to the altered cardiovascular responses to exercise characteristic of hypertension. For example, studies taking advantage of the fact that decreased blood flow to skeletal muscle during static exercise attenuates the removal of metabolites (32, 64, 209) have demonstrated that hypertensive humans elicit exaggerated increases in BP and muscle SNA

during static handgrip exercise compared to age-matched normotensive adults (32, 209). Importantly, these augmented responses remain after the cessation of handgrip when the circulation to the previously exercising limb is experimentally occluded (*i.e.* during isolated stimulation of the metaboreflex). Similar responses have been shown to also exist in prehypertensive young adults (20), as well as older adults (64). Collectively, the evidence in animals and humans demonstrates that muscle metaboreflex over-activity significantly contributes to the exaggerated sympathetic, pressor, and tachycardic responses to exercise in hypertension.

Mechanoreflex in Hypertension

Group III sensory afferent neurons are predominately excited by mechanically-sensitive receptors which are stimulated via distortion of their receptive fields. In attempts to identify areas of the muscle where mechanoreceptors are optimally exposed, lidocaine was injected into the myotendinous junction which abolished the cardiovascular response to mechanoreflex stimulation (175, 176). This finding suggested that the receptive fields of mechanoreceptors are located proximally to tendons within the myotendinous junction near the head of the muscle. While L- and T-type calcium channels and mechanogated channels have yet to be localized to group III afferent nerve endings (67), gadolinium (a trivalent lanthanide that antagonizes these channels) inhibits the pressor and tachycardic responses to selective mechanoreflex activation (72, 73, 167) suggesting these receptors stimulate group III sensory fibers. Similar to metaboreceptor activation, a polymodal sub-population of mechanoreceptors and associated group III fibers are activated by muscle metabolites such as bradykinin, potassium, byproducts of arachidonic acid, and lactic acid (84, 100, 121, 199, 204, 222). In addition, metabolites are known to sensitize mechanoreceptors to distorition, further enhancing mechanoreflex responsiveness (1, 27, 101). For example, prostaglandins, thromboxanes, and leukotrienes produced by cyclooxygenases (COXs) and lipoxygenases have been demonstrated to stimulate and modulate the firing rates of group III afferent fibers (74, 199, 200). Finally, P2X receptors have been localized on group III and IV fibers, suggesting that ATP may play a role in mechanosensation as well as metabosensation (68, 110, 112). While these studies have told us much concerning the mechanisms of mechanoreflex activation, there are still many questions remaining.

Selective activation of mechanically sensitive afferent fibers through passive muscle stretch produces enhanced elevations in BP, HR, and rSNA in spontaneously hypertensive rats (a model of human essential hypertension) (127, 167). As stated earlier, these abnormally large pressor, tachycardic, and sympathetic responses to mechanoreflex stimulation can be significantly attenuated by blocking skeletal muscle mechanoreceptors gadolinium during both muscle contraction and stretch (167). Additionally, these exaggerations in mechanoreflex function have been demonstrated in adult prenatally programmed hypertensive rats (a model of human maternal dietary protein deprivation induced hypertension) (166, 169). Findings from these animal studies suggest the muscle mechanoreflex significantly contributes to the EPR-mediated exaggerations in cardiovascular responsiveness in hypertension of more than one etiology.

The mechanoreflex is activated during muscle contraction. However, it is difficult to isolate and study in humans because contraction is accompanied by concurrent metabolite production and central command activation. Techniques designed to generate passive exercise, such as low-resistance passive cycling, attempt to stimulate the mechanoreflex without activating the metaboreflex or central command (45, 56, 157). To date, no studies examining the contribution fo the muscle mechanoreflex to the exaggerated cardiovascular response to exercise in hypertension have been reported in humans. As such, there is a strong need to translate the findings delineated from animal research to the human hypertensive patient. Further studies utilizing techniques such as passive cycling may indeed be able to bridge this gap in knowledge.

THE ROLE OF MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTORS IN CARDIOVASCULAR CONTROL

Aldosterone

The origin and progression of hypertension has been linked in many forms of the disease to over-activation of the sympathetic nervous system. Recent evidence shows that the reninaldosterone-angiotensin system plays a key role in the generation of hypertension, specifically angiotensin II (Ang II) (37, 217, 221). Angiotensin receptor subtype 1 (AT₁) and subtype II (AT₂) have been identified in many brainstem centers involved in cardiovascular regulation (187). Blockade of the AT_1 receptor has shown to decrease in BP in cats (236), as well as reduce BP and HR responses to static muscle contraction in rat studies (182). Interestingly, while thiazide-type diuretics decrease hypertension effects through AT_1 receptor blockade, they do not attenuate augmented increases in SNA during exercise in patients with essential hypertension (257).

Despite the reported successful use of AT₁ receptor blockade in treating the symptoms of hypertension, Ang II activation via aldosterone has severe deleterious effects on the cardiovascular system (43, 177, 255) that cannot be effectively prevented by antagonism of AT₁ receptors (12, 244, 268). Studies in rats and humans have shown that treatment with AT₁ receptor antagonists only transiently reduces circulating aldosterone concentrations, returning to pretreatment levels following cessation of blockade (12, 244, 268). This effect is clinically known as aldosterone breakthrough (12, 268) and is associated with increased cardiovascular and renal complications in patients with hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and congestive heart failure (21, 212).

Like Ang II, aldosterone is known to contribute to the pathogenesis of hypertension and target organ complications in humans. Circulating aldosterone penetrates the blood-brain barrier at concentrations that are equal to those in plasma (58, 251, 269), allowing aldosterone to centrally stimulate the sympathetic nervous system (31, 41, 61). Direct infusion of aldosterone into the cerebral ventricles in animal studies have shown sustained increases in SNA and BP (49, 60, 94,

258, 274). Chronic intracerebroventricular (ICV) infusion of aldosterone has also been shown to inhibit arterial baroreflex control of rSNA and HR (80). Increased aldosterone alone is also known to induce cardiomyopathy (18, 70). Patients with primary aldosteronism, a secondary form of hypertension characterized by aldosterone overproduction, exhibit elevated levels in resting SNA that are similar to those shown with patients with essential hypertension. Moreover, this baseline SNA over-activity can be normalized by adrenalectomy in cases where an aldosterone-producing adenoma is present (118).

It has been suggested that the central, sympathetically-mediated pressor action of aldosterone is observed only in the presence of sodium excess or in salt-sensitive animals (80, 258). Additionally, aldosterone administration with salt loading for 4 weeks results in muscle atrophy (18), further contributing to cardiovascular pathogenesis (71). High salt intake increases the concentration of sodium in cerebral spinal fluid and brain tissue, evoking central sympathetic activation through stimulation of epithelial sodium channels (ENaC) (80, 158, 253). Salt intake does not, however, alter vasoconstrictor responses to sympathetic stimulation in rats (86, 96, 184, 263) suggesting the abnormalities evoked are central in origin and do not occur at the vascular level. With regard to SNA and BP regulation during exercise, both excessive salt intake (263) and elevated aldosterone levels (165) have been shown to exacerbate the sympathetic and pressor responses to EPR activation. Despite the suggestions that aldosterone requires excess sodium to have adverse effects, our laboratory has recently demonstrated a strong independent action of aldosterone in the generation of EPR over-activity that is not appreciably affected by increased

salt ingestion (165). These findings suggest that aldosterone maintains the potential to independently affect EPR function.

Mineralocorticoid Receptors

Activation of central mineralocorticoid receptors (MR) may play a key role in the mechanisms underlying aldosterone-related hypertension (49, 50). MRs are expressed in several brain regions involved in cardiovascular regulation, including the hypothalamus, the pariventricular nucleus, and the solitary tract nucleus (nucleus tractus solitarius, NTS) (31, 41, 55). While MRs have equal binding affinity for glucocorticoids (210), coexpression of 11B-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase enzyme type 2 (HSD2) allows aldosterone in humans and corticosterone in some animals, including rodents, to gain access to neurons expressing these receptors (55) by converting local glucocorticoids, such as cortisol, to the inert metabolite cortisone. Cortisone has a lower binding affinity for MR allowing aldosterone to bind the receptor. Both MR and HSD2 are present in the NTS, an important brainstem center involved in cardiovascular control (53, 54). ICV infusion of MR antagonists at doses that have no BP effects when systemically delivered reduce the central pressor action of aldosterone (60). ICV infusion of MR antagonists also reduces BP in rats with normal circulating levels of aldosterone such as Wistar Kyoto (WKY) rats (197), Dahl-salt sensitive rats (81), and spontaneously hypertensive (SHR) rats (196), possibly through reductions of locally produced aldosterone in the brain (59, 81). In addition, central blockade of MR through the antagonist spironolactone may promote natriuresis

and reduce BP without affecting sympathetic outflow in patients with primary hypertension (154). The potential roles of aldosterone and MR in adversely altering autonomic cardiovascular regulation during exercise in hypertension remain largely undetermined.

THE ROLE OF GABA IN CARDIOVASCULAR CONTROL

GABA

Gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) is the primary inhibitory neurotransmitter in the central nervous system (CNS) reducing neuronal excitability (260). GABAergic actions are mediated by stimulation of receptors located in presynaptic or postsynaptic loci. Two major types of the GABA receptors exist: 1) the GABA_A, which receptor is a pentameric, chloride ionophore that mediates postsynaptic inhibition (150), and 2) the GABA_B receptor, which is a G-protein-coupled receptor that induces reductions in calcium conductance to modulate presynaptic inhibition (252). GABAergic inhibition of the CNS results in pressor or depressor responses in a site-specific manner. For example, pressor responses can result from GABAergic inhibition of neurons that reduce SNA. GABA injections into the CNS also alter vagal cardiac function and levels of vasoactive hormones such as vasopressin and angiotensin, in addition to changes in SNA (11, 16).

The Central Actions of GABA

The NTS, an important autonomic processing center, receives a variety of neural inputs that modulate cardiovascular functions (137, 232). GABA is the primary inhibitory neurotransmitter in the complex intrinsic network of neurons within the NTS (8, 10, 17, 103, 104, 183, 211). GABAergic neurons coordinate the autonomic outflow to cardiovascular organs within this network (10, 35, 103, 104, 192) leading to increases in SNA, HR, and BP when GABA receptors are activated within the NTS (192). However, as the complexity of the NTS networks makes it difficult to study GABAergic neurons in isolation, identifying their role in the regulation of cardiovascular function is an ongoing target of investigation. Studies suggest that the GABA-mediated inhibition of NTS neurons that leads to increases in cardiovascular activity also depends on the actions of excitatory neurons elsewhere in the CNS network. This activity has been studied in the arterial baroreflex and shown to be active in the cortex and other cardiovascular control centers (*e.g.* the rostral ventrolateral medulla, RVLM) (38, 83, 93, 109, 203, 250, 276), while the role of GABA-mediated activity in other cardiovascular control mechanisms such as the EPR remains to be investigated.

Microinjection of GABA_A or GABA_B receptor agonists within caudal regions of the NTS increases arterial pressure due to GABAergic inhibition of NTS neurons (16, 89, 241). Conversely, microinjection of GABA_A or GABA_B receptor antagonists lowers BP (16, 240). The pressor, tachycardic, and sympathetic responses to GABA receptor agonists are maintained or enhanced in spontaneously hypertensive, DOCA-salt, and renal-wrap hypertensive rats when compared to normotensive controls (36, 249, 256, 267). Studies in renal-wrap hypertensive rats showed that NTS neuron sensitivity is altered in response to inhibition of GABA_A and GABA_B receptors when compared to normotensive controls. Directionally opposite changes in sensitivity occur in response to GABA_A (reduced inhibition) and GABA_B (enhanced inhibition) receptor selective agonists (151).

In electrophysiological preparations using isolated NTS neurons identified through anatomic labeling techniques (152), postsynaptic activation of GABA_A and GABA_B receptors mirrored results seen *in vivo*. The peak response for GABA_A-induced currents was significantly greater in hypertensive rats when compared to normotensive controls and that NTS neurons are less sensitive to GABA_A receptor inhibition (10, 104, 248). Similar studies looking at GABA_B-evoked responses in NTS neurons showed that postsynaptic responses were attenuated in the presence of GABA_B receptor antagonists compared with responses recorded in untreated hypertensive animals, suggesting an enhanced response in second-order neurons in hypertension (272). Presynaptic antagonism of GABA_B receptor responses may reduce excitatory postsynaptic currents by inhibiting glutamate release in second-order neurons (8, 10, 103, 104, 273). These studies, as well as others, indicate that cardiovascular inputs are modulated, in part, via GABAergic neurons.

The Role of Angiotensin on GABAergic Neurons

As previously discussed, excitability in the medulla is modulated by neurotransmitters such as GABA, but is also regulated by angiotensin II (Ang II). Under hypoxic conditions, increased BP, and rSNA from AT₁ receptor antagonism can be prevented by GABA_A blockade (219). These effects by Ang II depend on the net excitatory and inhibitory effects on sympathetic neurons containing GABA receptors, leading to an effect termed the 'push-pull effect' (29). While other pathways may play a role in inhibition of pressor and SNA effects caused by Ang II (52, 75, 91), GABAergic neurons may also modulate the response to Ang II (79) as projections to the RVLM decrease their output to sympathetic neurons (28). GABAergic activity following BP elevation has also been linked to outward signals from the NTS to the caudal ventrolateral medulla (CVLM) (28). AT_1 receptor expression has been shown on GABAergic neurons in the medulla oblongata, suggesting that Ang II acts both on excitatory neurons in the RVLM, but also on inhibitory neurons (79). Similar to hypoxic conditions, blockade of AT_1 receptors in the RVLM of normotensive anaesthetized rats does not decrease BP and SNA unless combined with the GABA_A antagonist, bicucullin, revealing an excitatory effect when GABAergic input is blocked (243). In conscious rats, AT₁ receptor blockade increases BP, indicating that the mediated inhibition of RVLM neurons is not balanced by tonic excitatory signals (47, 48). AT₁ receptor activation may release glutamate in the RVLM, modulating SNA via GABAergic neurons (242). Likewise, Ang II injection into the RVLM increased glutamate release in the RVLM (275), as

well as GABA release in the hypothalamic PVN (42). While the effects of nitric oxide cannot be discounted for the balance that seems to appear between excitatory and inhibitory effects (271), these separate outcomes are most likely due to distinct mechanisms of AT_1 receptors on pre- and post-synaptic GABAergic neurons that have excitatory and inhibitory consequences, respectively, in cardiovascular control centers in the medulla (219).

Ang II receptor concentrations in some regions of the brain is greater in SHRs than normotensive controls (79, 205, 233). SHRs exhibit more sensitivity to Ang II in the RVLM (79, 171, 264). SHRs and Dahl salt-sensitive hypertensive rats show sustained excitatation in presympathetic neurons in the RVLM to endogenous Ang II when compared to normotensive controls (6, 87, 88). Hypertensive rats also appear to be more sensitive to the central administration of Ang II antagonists causing reductions of systemic MAP (87, 239).

Increases in GABA_B receptor expression in hypertension may be linked to Ang II as well. Ang II application to NTS neuronal cell cultures induce increases in GABA_B receptor expression while having no effect on GABA_A receptor expression (265). Blockade of GABA_B receptors decreases neuronal signaling frequency when combined with Ang II while again having no effect when GABA_A receptors are blocked (265). In animal studies, ICV infusion of Ang II increased GABA_B receptor mRNA and protein levels in the NTS (265). In the Ang II-dependent renal-wrap rat model of hypertension (224), evidence suggests that Ang II may mediate the changes in GABA_B receptor function reported in the NTS (36, 272). Ang II may also increase GABA_B
receptor function through signal transduction pathways activated by Ang II and $GABA_B$ receptors co-localized to these neurons.

The Role of GABA in Exercise

It is well recognized that GABA contributes to the regulation of the cardiovascular response to exercise by acting within a number of autonomic nuclei in the brainstem including the NTS, CVLM, and RVLM. For example, evidence suggests that GABAergic mechanisms in the NTS are involved in the exercise-induced resetting of the baroreflex in which the reflex operates around the higher pressures elicited by physical activity (194). An increase in GABA within the RVLM in response to EPR activation has been shown to play an inhibitory role by preventing inappropriate increases in BP (246). Within the CVLM, a decrease in GABA response to exercise has been demonstrated to lead to an increase in both HR and BP (85, 178). Clearly, functional alterations in GABAergic neurons maintain the potential to contribute significantly to the abnormally exaggerated cardiovascular response to exercise that develops with the pathogenesis of hypertension.

SCIENTIFIC RATIONALE FOR CURRENT STUDIES

The background literature highlighted has formed the basis for the studies performed in this dissertation project. Our laboratory recently provided the first direct evidence that experimentally

increasing systemic aldosterone induces EPR over-activity in normotensive rats (165). This finding represented a potential mechanism by which SNA and BP may be inappropriately augmented during exercise after the development of hypertension. That being stated, the results were obtained in normotensive animals. Whether aldosterone and its mineralocorticoid receptors play a role in the genesis of EPR over-activity in hypertension remains to be investigated. As such, the first component of the dissertation research aimed to determine the effect of MR blockade (via the antagonists spironolactone and eplerenone) on the EPR-induced cardiovascular response to muscle contraction in normotensive and spontaneously hypertensive rats. It was hypothesized that antagonizing mineralocorticoid receptors in hypertensive animals would rescue a normal EPR phenotype. Additional mechanisms that do not involve aldosterone or its MR receptors have likewise been shown to contribute to the development of EPR dysfunction in hypertension. For example, our laboratory has recently demonstrated that alterations in the processing of mechanoreflex afferent information within the NTS mediates, in part, the development of muscle reflex dysfunction in hypertension (124-126, 172, 173). Specifically, the studies determined that reductions in the availability of nitric oxide within the NTS led to the irregularities in the central processing of mechanoreflex input. As discussed, GABA is also known to modulate processing circuits within the NTS. Moreover, as previously mentioned, GABA inhibits NTS neurons leading to an increase in SNA, HR and BP. In hypertension, the sympathetically mediated cardiovascular response to mechanoreflex activation is exaggerated. It is logical to suggest that these exaggerated cardiovascular responses may be mediated by abnormal increases in GABA within the NTS. Therefore, the second component of the

dissertation research aimed to determine the contribution of GABA within the NTS to the pathogenesis of mechanoreflex over-activity in hypertension. It was hypothesized that blocking GABA synthesis and/or antagonizing GABA receptors within the NTS would normalize the cardiovascular response to mechanoreflex activation in hypertensive animals. To test this hypothesis, the cardiovascular responses to stimulation of the mechanoreflex were assessed before and after the microdialysis of 3-mercaptopropionic acid (a GABA synthesis inhibitor), bicuculline (a GABA_A antagonist), or saclofen (a GABA_B antagonist) into the NTS.

CHAPTER THREE: METHODOLOGY

ANIMAL MODELS

Mineralocorticoid Receptor Studies

Experiments for the aldosterone studies were performed in 24 Spontaneously Hypertensive (SHR) and 11 Wistar-Kyoto (WKY) age-matched (15 week) male rats (Harlan Laboratories, Indianapolis, Ind.). SHR were fed (3 weeks) either normal chow (NC, n=8) or a customized diet containing the mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists spironolactone (SPIR, 50 mg/kg/day, n=9) or eplerenone (EPL, 100 mg/kg/day, n=7). WKY were fed either NC (n=6) or SPIR (n=5).

GABA Studies

Experiments for the GABA studies were performed in 21 normotensive (WKY) and 21 hypertensive (SHR) age matched (12-16 week) male rats (Harlan Laboratories, Indianapolis, Ind.). Within the NTS via microdialysis, animals received 3-mercaptopropionic acid (3-MP, 850 μ M, 10 μ g total; WKY, n = 7; SHR, n = 8), bicuculline (BIC, 88 nM, 5 ng total; WKY, n = 5; SHR, n = 5), or 2-hydroxy saclofen (SAC, 885 μ M, 30 ng total; WKY, n=4; SHR, n = 4) for 45 minutes at 2.5 μ L/min, as described below.

Ethics and Approvals

All animals were housed in standard caging on 12-hour light-dark cycles and given food and water *ad libitum*, except where otherwise noted. Experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Research Advisory Committee at the University of Texas at Southwestern Medical Center, as well as conducted in accordance with the United States Department of Health and Human Services National Institutes of Health *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals* (24).

EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES AND PROTOCOLS

General Surgical Procedures

The following general surgical procedures were performed in all animals.

Rats were anesthetized under 2-3% isoflurane gas in pure oxygen (Isotec3, Ohmeda of Nevada, L.L.C., Sparks, NE). Needle electrodes were placed on the back of the animal to obtain electrocardiograph (ECG) recordings for the measurement of HR. The level of anesthesia was increased if the animal displayed a withdrawal reflex to hindlimb pinching, a corneal reflex was present, and/or HR increased spontaneously. Animals were then intubated and mechanically respirated (Inspira ASVV, Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA). A dexamethasone injection (0.1

cc of 4 mg/ml) was administered intramuscularly to the left hindlimb to minimize edema. Both internal common carotid arteries and the left jugular vein were catheterized (Tygon PE-50 tubing, Saint-Gobain, Paris, France) to obtain arterial pressure readings and for fluid administration, respectively. To maintain baseline BP at adequate levels throughout the experimental protocol, a solution (2 ml 1 M NaHCO₃ and 10 ml 5% dextrose in 38 ml Ringer solution) (195) was continuously infused into the jugular vein at a rate of 2 mL hr⁻¹. Body temperature was maintained between 37 and 39°C by an isothermal pad (Deltaphase, Braintree Scientific, Inc., Braintree, MA).

Animals were placed into a stereotaxic head frame and spinal unit with the pelvis stabilized with hip spikes (Kopf Instruments, Tujunga, CA). The gastrocnemius and soleus muscles of the right hindlimb were isolated, the calcaneal bone was cut, and the Achilles' tendon sectioned and connected to a force transducer (FT10; Grass Technologies, Middleton, WI) for the measurement of muscle tension. The limb was fixed in one position using clamps attached to the tibial bone. A precollicular decerebration was conducted as described previously (208, 226). Briefly, a bilateral craniotomy was performed and the portion of bone superior to the sagittal sinus was removed. The brain was sectioned immediately rostral to the superior colliculus, and the forebrain was aspirated (Gomco Model 4005, Allied Healthcare Products, St. Louis, MO) rendering the animal insentient. Gas anesthesia was discontinued following decerebration. Oxidized regenerated cellulose (Ethicon, Johnson & Johnson, Somerville, NJ) was placed around the remaining medullary brainstem to minimize hemorrhage and the cranial cavity was packed with cotton. Animals recovered from surgery for 1 h before beginning any experimental protocol to allow sufficient time for the effects of isoflurane anesthesia to completely dissipate and arterial blood pressure to stabilize.

After the completion of experimental testing, insentient, decerebrated animals were euthanized via intravenous injection of saturated potassium chloride (4 M, 2 ml kg⁻¹). The heart and lungs were harvested and wet weights obtained. Tibial length was also obtained to assess heart mass-to-tibial length ratios.

Specific Surgical and Experimental Procedures

The following specific surgical and experimental procedures were performed as subsequently noted in the protocols for the mineralocorticoid receptor and GABA studies.

Tail-Cuff Blood Pressure Measurements

Non-invasive blood pressure measurements were obtained from animals using tail-cuff measurements from the CODA 8-channel high throughput system (Kent Scientific, Torrington, CT). Following manufacturer recommendations, animals were acclimatized to the protocol with daily measurements for two weeks. Following acclimatization, blood pressure measurements were taken every 2-3 days. Measurements were taken 15 times per animal. The first 5 were rejected to account for any rises in blood pressure due to the measurement protocol. The remaining 10 measurements were included in a daily mean blood pressure reading if they passed the default CODA software validation criteria. Groups of animals were then binned and averaged to calculate group means.

EPR Testing

A laminectomy was performed from the second to sixth lumbar vertebrae (L_2 - L_6) exposing the lower portions of the spinal cord. The dura of the cord was cut and reflected. The L_4 and L_5 ventral roots (housing motor neurons innervating hindlimb skeletal muscle) were separated isolated from dorsal roots (carrying sensory information from hindlimb skeletal muscle). The peripheral ends of the L_4 and L_5 ventral roots were cut and positioned on a custom-made insulated bipolar platinum electrode connected to a square pulse stimulator (S88; Grass Technologies, Middleton, WI). The exposed neural tissue was covered with mineral oil. A schematic of this experimental preparation is presented in Figure 2. To induce EPR stimulation, the gastrocnemius and soleus muscles of the right hindlimb were contracted by electrical stimulation of the L_4 and L_5 ventral roots (constant current stimulation at 3 times motor threshold, pulse duration of 0.1 ms at 40 Hz for 30 s). Before any contraction, muscles were preloaded with 70–100 g of tension. This procedure allowed simultaneous activation of group III and group IV mechanically and metabolically sensitive skeletal muscle afferent fibers.(226)



Figure 2: Illustration of the preparation used to activate the EPR via electrical stimulation of the L_4 and L_5 ventral roots as presented in Smith, et al. 2006 (229). Induction of muscle contraction in this manner concomitantly stimulates both the mechanically and metabolically-sensitive components of the EPR. This preparation can also be used to preferentially stimulate the muscle mechanoreflex via passive muscle stretch. Passively stretching the gastrocnemius and soleus muscle selectively activates the group III afferents most closely associate with the mechanically-sensitive sensitive component of the reflex.

Mechanoreflex Testing

To selectively activate the skeletal muscle mechanoreflex, the gastrocnemius and soleus muscles of the right hindlimb were passively stretched for either 30 s to 1,000-1,200 g of tension or levels similar to that developed during maximal static contractions using a calibrated 9.5-mm rack and pinion system (Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA). Muscles in all experiments were preloaded with 70–100 g of tension prior to performing the stretch maneuver. Stretching skeletal muscle in this manner does not increase muscle metabolism and is often used to preferentially stimulate the mechanically-sensitive afferent fibers associated with the muscle mechanoreflex (234). A schematic of the experimental preparation used to perform passive stretch is presented in Figure 2.

Microdialysis Procedures

A limited occipital craniotomy was performed to expose the dorsal surface of the brainstem. Microdialysis probes (model CMA 11, CMA Microdialysis AB, Holliston, MA) were stereotaxically positioned unilaterally within the NTS of the medulla oblongata in areas known to receive projections from skeletal muscle reflex afferent fibers in rats (coordinates: 0.0mm rostro-caudal to the calamus scriptorius, 0.5 mm lateral to the calamus scriptorius and 0.5mm below the dorsal medullary surface) (51, 172, 185, 191). All probes were placed ipsilateral to the hindlimb to be tested. A schematic diagram demonstrating the location of dialysis probe placement is presented in **Figure 3**. Once positioned, the probe was continuously perfused at a rate of 2.5 μ l min⁻¹ with artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF, 0.2 % bovine serum albumin, 0.1% bacitracin and the following ions (mM): 6.2 K⁺, 134 Cl⁻, 2.4 Ca²⁺, 150 Na⁺, 1.3 P⁻, 13 HCO₃⁻ and 1.3 Mg²⁺, buffered to a pH of 7.4 with CO₂). After probe insertion, the animal was allowed to stabilize for a minimum of 1 h before beginning experimental procedures. Probe placement was verified by dialyzing five animals with Evans Blue dye and excising the brainstems, which were then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, frozen in Tissue-Tek Optimal Cutting Temperature (O.C.T.) Compound (Sakura Finetek USA, Inc., Torrence, CA), sliced into 35-µm sections via a 2800 Frigocut E cryostat (Reichert-Jung, Depew, New York) and analyzed visually.

Experimental Protocol for Mineralocorticoid Receptor Studies

Rats were fed an NC, SPIR, or EPL diet during a 3-week period. During this period, conscious resting blood pressure was assessed periodically using the non-invasive tail-cuff measurement system previously described. Subsequently, acute terminal experiments were performed. All animals underwent the general surgical preparations as described, as well as the surgical procedures required for EPR and mechanoreflex stimulation. Completion of the procedures was followed by 1-hour of recovery. Each animal then had its gastrocnemius and soleus muscles contracted for 30 seconds via electrical ventral root stimulation to establish maximal contraction. The magnitude of passive stretch was then matched to the initial maximal force produced by the animal during contraction. Subsequent contractions or stretches were randomized during the

experiment by asking the Apple Siri virtual digital assistant to 'flip a coin' (iOS 7.2-8.3, Apple Inc, Cupertino, CA) where heads was a contraction and tails yielded a passive stretch. This was



Figure 3: Placement of the microdialysis probe within the medullary brainstem.

A) schematic diagram adapted from Dhruva *et al.* (33) displaying the dorsal surface of the brainstem. The filled circle marks the location at which the dialysis probe was positioned. B) a schematic coronal section of the medulla, modified from Paxinos & Watson (185), depicts the position of the tip of the dialysis probe (filled circle) within the NTS (gray shaded area).

Abbreviations: 4V, fourth ventricle; AP, area postrema; CS, calamus scriptorius; and NTS, solitary tract nucleus (*nucleus tractus solitarii*).

repeated until 3 contractions and 3 passive stretches were obtained. Tissue was harvested and morphological data collected at the termination of the experiment. A schematic of the acute terminal experimental protocol is presented in Figure 4.



Figure 4: Mineralocorticoid receptor studies general scheme.

Experimental Protocol for GABA Studies

Animals were prepared as described under 'General Surgical Procedures'. Animals underwent additional surgery to allow experimental stimulation of the muscle mechanoreflex, as well as performance of microdialysis procedures. The gastrocnemius and soleus muscles were isolated and attached to a rack-and-pinion system as previously described. Following a 1-hour recovery period, artificial cerebral spinal fluid (aCSF) was microdialyzed into the NTS for 45 minutes.

The leg muscles were passively stretched for 30 seconds (peak developed tension ~ 1200g), followed by 10-minute recovery periods. This was repeated twice. Animals then received microdialyzed of either 3-MP, BIC, or SAC for 45 minutes within the NTS and passive stretches were performed as before. After testing was complete, aCSF was again dialyzed into the NTS to washout the experimental compounds. Following completion of the experimental protocol, morphological data and tissue samples were collected. A schematic of the acute terminal experimental protocol is presented in Figure 5.



Figure 5: GABA studies general scheme. Animals were dialyzed with aCSF or experimental drug (labled EXP above. 3-MP, BIC, or SAC),

Data Acquisition

Physiological animal data was collected using a Powerlab analog-to-digital converter (ML870, ADInstruments, Dunedin, New Zealand) with the raw signaled filtered through a quad bridge amp (ML224, ADInstruments, Dunedin, New Zealand) set at a sampling rate of at 1-kHz. BP was measured by connecting the arterial catheter to a pressure transducer (MLTO380/D, ADInstruments, Dunedin, New Zealand). MAP was obtained by integrating the arterial pressure signal with a time constant of 1– 4 s. HR was measured from the time between successive R-waves in the ECG using a standard three-lead electrocardiogram attached to an animal bio amp (ML136, ADInstruments, Dunedin, New Zealand). Hindlimb tension was quantified using a force transducer (FT-10; Grass Instruments, Middleton, WI). Data sets of 1-s averages for MAP, HR, and hindlimb tension were analyzed. Baseline values for all variables were determined by evaluating 30 s of recorded data before a muscle contraction or stretch. The peak response of each variable was defined as the greatest change from baseline elicited by contraction or stretch. All data were collected, recorded, and analyzed using commercially available software (LabChart 8; ADInstruments, Dunedin, New Zealand).

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Statistics were performed on all data sets using Student's *t*-test or one-way ANOVA with uncorrected Fisher's LSD multiple comparisons or Bonferroni posttests as appropriate to identify differences between specific group means. The significance level was set at p < 0.05. All results are presented as mean ± S.E.M. Analysis were conducted using GraphPad Prism 6 for Mac OS X (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA).

CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS

MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTOR STUDIES

Characterization of Animals on Experimental Diets

Morphometric characteristics and blood chemistry values for each experimental group are presented in **Table 1**. Body weight was lower, but not significantly different, between WKY rats on normal chow and those treated with SPIR. However, SHR rats treated with both mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists, SPIR and EPL, had significantly lower body weights than controls on NC. Heart weight-to-body weight, lung weight-to-body weight, and tibial length-to-body weight ratio differences were all insignificant between groups. Plasma was collected from 5 animals in each experimental group. There were no significant differences between groups for sodium, potassium, or creatinine.

Conscious tail-cuff blood pressure measurements were taken during 3-week treatments of NC, SPIR, or EPL chow. There were no differences between experimental groups in systolic, diastolic, or mean arterial blood pressure. As an example, MAP for all groups over the 3-week treatment is shown in Figure 6. Similarly, heart rate, tail blood volume, and blood flow measurements from the CODA system were not significantly different between groups (data not shown).

In acute terminal experiments, baseline measurements of HR and BP were taken following 1-hour of recovery post-decerebration. Neither SPIR nor EPL caused a significant change in baseline hemodynamics in either WKY or SHR (Figure 7). As expected, baseline MAP was higher in SHR compared to WKY. These differences between normotensive and hypertensive animals were consistent with previous experiments and values reported in the literature.

Effects of Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist Treatment on the Cardiovascular Response to EPR Activation

In WKY, the MAP and HR responses to EPR activation via muscle contraction were largely unaffected by blockade of mineralocorticoid receptors with SPIR (Figure 8A). In contrast, the pressor and tachycardic responses to stimulation of the EPR during static muscle contraction in SHR were significantly attenuated by SPIR compared to animals fed NC (Figure 8B). EPL treated animals also showed attenuation of responses, albeit not to a significant degree compared to animals fed NC (Figure 8B). Individual responses for each animal are shown in Figure 9. It should be noted that the amount of tension developed during muscle contraction was quite variable. To control for this variability, all cardiovascular data reported have been normalized to the amount of tension developed.

Table 1: Mineralocorticoid receptor animal morphology and characteristics

	M	KY		SHR	
	NC	SPIR	NC	SPIR	EPL
	(n=5)	(n=4)	(u=8)	(n=8)	(n=7)
Body weight (g)	332 ± 6	325 ± 4	334 ± 4	$321 \pm 4^{*}$	$320 \pm 3*$
Heart weight/body weight ratio (mg g^{-1})	3.00 ± 0.13	3.40 ± 0.36	3.54 ± 0.20	3.63 ± 0.07	3.39 ± 0.07
Heart weight/tibial length ratio (mg mm ⁻¹)	26.56 ± 1.33	28.44 ± 2.55	31.22 ± 1.79	34.12 ± 2.45	29.09 ± 0.46
Lung weight/body weight ratio (mg g ⁻¹)	7.70 ± 0.81	5.43 ± 1.25	8.10 ± 1.01	7.28 ± 0.90	10.05 ± 0.51
Plasma sodium (mmol/L)†	149 ± 5	178 ± 16	172 ± 6	171 ± 9	152 ± 3
Plasma potassium (mmol/L)†	5.5 ± 0.2	5.9 ± 0.7	6.0 ± 0.8	5.8 ± 0.3	5.1 ± 0.3
Plasma creatinine (mg/dL)†	0.40 ± 0.03	0.56 ± 0.09	0.44 ± 0.03	0.50 ± 0.05	0.40 ± 0.01
		-			

Values are means \pm SEM. \ddagger N=5 for plasma sodium, potassium, and creatinine. *p > 0.05 compared to SHR_{NC}.



Figure 6: Conscious mean arterial blood pressure (MAP) measured by tail-cuff (n=4 in all groups). NC, normal choiw; SPIR, spironolactone; EPL, eplerenone.



Figure 7: Baseline MAP in A) WKY and B) SHR animals post-decerebration. Dietary treatment with normal chow (NC), spironolactone (SPIR), or eplerenone (EPL) did not alter baseline MAP within either group.



Figure 8: MAP and HR response to activation of the EPR by electrically-induced muscle contraction in A) WKY and B) SHR. * p < 0.05 for SPIR vs. NC. Normal chow, NC; spironolactone, SPIR; or eplerenone, EPL.



Figure 9: Individual MAP and HR responses to activation of the EPR by electrically-induced muscle contraction in A) WKY and B) SHR. Normal chow, NC; spironolactone, SPIR; or eplerenone, EPL.



Figure 10: MAP and HR response to activation of the mechanoreflex via passive muscle stretch in A) WKY and B) SHR. * p < 0.05 compared to normal chow. Normal chow, NC; spironolactone, SPIR; or eplerenone, EPL.



Figure 11: Individual MAP and HR responses to activation of the mechanoreflex via passive muscle stretch in A) WKY and B) SHR. * p < 0.05 compared to normal chow. Normal chow, NC; spironolactone, SPIR; or eplerenone, EPL.

Effects of Mineralocorticoid Receptor Antagonist Treatment on the Cardiovascular Response to Mechanoreflex Activation

Mechanically sensitive afferent neurons were preferentially activated by utilizing a passive stretch. Compared to animals fed NC, There was no appreciable difference in the HR and MAP responses to passive muscle stretch in WKY animals receiving SPIR treatment (Figure 10A). In contrast, treatment with both SPIR and EPL induced a significant attenuation in the tachycardic and pressor responses (one-way ANOVA, p < 0.05, Figure 10B). In SHR, there was no difference in the reduced effect between SPIR and EPL treatment. While there was no difference in tachycardic responses in WKY animals treated with SPIR (Figure 10A), there was a significant attenuation of response in SHR animals treated with both SPIR and EPL (Figure 10B). Although the amount of tension generated during passive muscle stretch was similar in all experiments, cardiovascular data have been normalized to the amount of tension developed to remain consistent with contraction studies.

GABA STUDIES

Characterization of Animals

Consistent with previous reports, baseline MAP was significantly elevated in all SHR vs. WKY after decerebration (196.7 \pm 3.7 mmHg vs. 143.6 \pm 7.3 mmHg, respectively; *p* < 0.0001).

Activation of the mechanically-sensitive component of the EPR via passive muscle stretch elicited an exaggerated MAP response in SHR compared to WKY ($31.73 \pm 3.97 \text{ mmHg kg}^{-1} \text{ vs.}$ $21.08 \pm 1.89 \text{ mmHg kg}^{-1}$, p < 0.05). Also consistent with previous studies, an exaggerated response in heart rate was observed with passive stretch in SHR vs. WKY ($24.95 \pm 5.01 \text{ BPM kg}^{-1} \text{ vs.} 13.32 \pm 1.87 \text{ BPM kg}^{-1}$, respectively; p < 0.05). Similarly, SHR vs. WKY comparisons were also consistent with previous studies when looked at by experimental groups (Table 2). The data does indicate early signs of heart failure and left ventricular

hypertrophy in SHR groups. This is also consistent with characteristics reported in previous reports including SHR animals. It should be noted that although the amount of tension generated during passive muscle stretch was similar in all experiments, cardiovascular data have been normalized to the amount of tension developed to remain consistent with mineralocorticoid receptor studies. Figure 12 shows a representative animal of microdialysis probe placement.

Effects of GABA Synthesis Inhibition (3-Mercaptopropionic Acid) on the Cardiovascular Response to Mechanoreflex Activation

Following an initial 45-minute microdialysis of aCSF and subsequent mechanoreflex testing, a subset of SHR and WKY animals were microdialyzed with 3-mercaptopropionic acid (3-MP), a GABA synthesis inhibitor. There were no significant differences in the pressor or tachycardic responses after 3-MP microdialysis in SHR animals (Figure 13). However, compared to initial aCSF conditions, there was a significant attenuation of the pressor response post 3-MP

microdialysis in WKY animals (Figure 14, one-way ANOVA, p < 0.05), although there were no differences between any groups following the aCSF washout period (aCSF: 22.86 ± 1.76 mmHg kg⁻¹, 3-MP: 12.11 ± 2.20 mmHg kg⁻¹, washout: 13.95 ± 4.47 mmHg kg⁻¹). Heart rate responses to mechanical activation of group III afferent fibers in WKYs followed the same trend as observed in the blood pressure response, but did not reach statistical significance.

Effects of a GABA_A Receptor Antagonist (Bicuculline) on the Cardiovascular Response to Mechanoreflex Activation

Treatment of SHR (Figure 15) and WKY (Figure 16) animals with the microdialysis of bicuculline (BIC), a GABA_A receptor antagonist, within the NTS did not produce any significant changes in the pressor or tachycardic response to activation of the muscle mechanoreflex via passive stretch. WKY animals showed an interesting, but statistically insignificant trend towards attenuation following treatment with BIC in the blood pressure response to passive stretch.

Effects of a GABA_B Receptor Antagonist (Saclofen) on the Cardiovascular Response to Mechanoreflex Activation

In a final subset of animals, $GABA_B$ receptor activity was blocked through the microdialysis of saclofen (SAC) within the NTS. Neither SHR (Figure 17) nor WKY (Figure 18) groups showed

any significant difference in the blood pressure or heart rate response to activation of the muscle mechanoreflex following SAC microdialysis compared to aCSF control conditions.

	3-	MP	B	IC	\mathbf{S}_{i}	AC
	WKY	SHR	WKY	SHR	WKY	SHR
	(n=7)	(n=8)	(<i>S</i> =n)	(n=5)	(n=4)	(n=4)
Body weight (g)	293 ± 7	319 ± 7	322 ± 14	326 ± 4	317 ± 6	314 ± 4
Heart weight/body weight ratio (mg g ⁻¹)	3.25 ± 0.09	3.76 ± 0.27 *	3.19 ± 0.06	3.46 ± 0.12 *	3.03 ± 0.05	$3.52 \pm 0.10 *$
Heart weight/tibial length ratio (mg mm ⁻¹)	25.29 ± 0.81	31.02 ± 1.73 *	26.35 ± 0.89	29.77 ± 1.05 *	24.90 ± 0.47	30.34 ± 0.99 *
Lung weight/body weight ratio (mg g ⁻¹)	9.08 ± 0.91	$9.66 \pm 0.65 *$	7.36 ± 0.27	8.76 ± 0.72 *	8.89 ± 0.95	8.17 ± 0.28
Baseline MAP (mmHg)	160.61 ± 7.40	$197.98 \pm 4.76 *$	147.44 ± 4.64	$192.20 \pm 8.20 *$	98.64 ± 11.75	$199.03 \pm 1.63 *$
Values are \pm SEM. * Indicate	s significantly diff	ferent from WKY, p	o < 0.05. Wistar-K	yoto, WKY; sponta	neously hyperten	sive, SHR; 3-

Table 2: GABA Animal morphology and characteristics

5 2 w 🕰 i , spuilte , S W 15141-IN Values are \pm SEM. * Indicates significantly different from WKY, *p* mercaptopropionic acid, 3-MP; bicuculline, BIC; saclofen, SAC.



Figure 12: Microdialysis probe placement in one representative animal. Probe was placed 0.5 mm lateral to the fourth ventricle (4V) and 0.5 mm below the dorsal medullary surface. Photomicrograph (4x) shows the probe track within the NTS. Minimal structural damage was caused by placement of the dialysis probe (arrow).



Figure 13: Compared to aCSF control conditions, microdialysis of 3-MP into the NTS did not have any significant effect on the blood pressure nor heart rate response to activation of the muscle mechanoreflex via passive muscle stretch in SHR. Artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF; 3-mercaptopropionic acid, 3-MP. Left panels depict group mean data. Right panels illustrate the responses of each rat.



Figure 14: Microdialysis of 3-MP into the NTS of WKY yielded a significant attenuation in the pressor response to passive muscle stretch versus the control aCSF condition. A similar trent was noted in the HR response to mechanoreflex activation, although statistical significance was not reached. ** Indicates significantly different from aCSF condition, p < 0.05. Artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF; 3-mercaptopropionic acid, 3-MP. Left panels depict group mean data. Right panels illustrate the responses of each rat.



Figure 15: Treatment of SHR animals with the microdialysis of BIC within the NTS showed no significant differences in the blood pressure and heart rate responses to passive muscle stretch compared to aCSF control conditions. Artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF; bicuculline, BIC. Left panels depict group mean data. Right panels illustrate the responses of each rat.



Figure 16: WKY animals treated with the GABA_A inhibitor BIC via microdialysis within the NTS showed no difference in the pressor response to passive muscle stretch compared to aCSF control conditions. A trend towards attenuation in the heart rate response to activation of the muscle mechanoreflex was noted after BIC microdialysis, although differences were statistically insignificant. Artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF; bicuculline, BIC. Left panels depict group mean data. Right panels illustrate the responses of each rat.



Figure 17: SHR were microdialyzed with SAC within the NTS region. There were no differences in blood pressure or heart rate responses to passive stretch after SAC treatment compared to aCSF control conditions. Artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF; saclofen, SAC. Left panels depict group mean data. Right panels illustrate the responses of each rat.



Figure 18: Compared to aCSF control conditions, there were no significant differences in pressor or tachycardic responses to mechanoreflex activation in WKY rats in which SAC was microdialyzed within the NTS. Artificial cerebrospinal fluid, aCSF; saclofen, SAC. Left panels depict group mean data. Right panels illustrate the responses of each rat.
CHAPTER FIVE: CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

MINERALOCORTICOID RECEPTOR STUDIES

Effects of Treatment with Mineralocorticoid Receptor Agonists

There were no significant differences in morphometric measurements of the animals, other than a significant loss of body mass in SHR treated with SPIR or EPL when compared to SHR treated with NC. One of the initial hopes from this data would be that, in SHR, heart weight-to-body weight and heart weight-to-tibial length ratios would show a significant decrease compared to NC treated animals. Increases in these ratios are indicative of the development of cardiomyopathy, such as seen in the development of left ventricular hypertrophy in Sprague-Dawley rats treated with endogenous aldosterone via osmotic mini pumps (165). A significant decrease would be seen as a positive sign of treatment in these animals. Similar conclusions could have been potentially made if changes to the lung weight-to-body weight ratios had been observed. However, the data does not indicate any significant improvement in these measures. This may be due to the relatively short (3 weeks) period of treatment, or due to a lack of a significant effect of SPIR and EPL on these ratios. Plasma samples were drawn from each group of animals in the study. Again, there were no significant differences detected which may also be

due to either the relatively short treatment period or an absence of any significant change due to treatment.

One of the most surprising results from these studies is that SPIR or EPL treatment did not significantly alter baseline blood pressure following three weeks of dietary consumption in either WKY or SHR. It is possible that detection of a true difference in baseline MAP due to treatment was obscured by the relatively low fidelity of the conscious tail-cuff measurement used. Moreover, the design of the acute-terminal experimental protocol may have likewise prevented observation of baseline differences in BP between groups. Animals were decerebrated before the measurement of baseline blood pressures in this protocol. The mechanisms through which SPIR and EPL act centrally have not yet been fully elucidated. By decerebrating the animals, central circuits in portions of the brain that could have been affected by treatment with SPIR and EPL may have been removed.

Mineralocorticoid Receptors and the Exercise Pressor Reflex

Treatment of WKY with SPIR did not have a significant effect on the pressor or tachycardic responses to activation of the EPR compared to animals fed NC. Based on this result, it was determined that treatment with EPL in normotensive WKY animals would not be necessary as there was minimal effect of mineralocorticoid receptor activation on EPR activity. In SHR animals, there was a significant attenuation of the exaggerated pressor response to EPR

activation in SPIR treated animals. Tachycardic responses in these animals showed a strong trend toward attenuation, but did not reach significance. Likewise, responses to EPR activation in animals treated with EPL showed trends towards attenuation of MAP and HR, but also did not reach statistical significance. These measures did not reach statistical significance in HR response in SPIR treated animals and both MAP and HR response in EPL treated animals most likely because of a wide variability in the tensions produced in hindlimb contraction via electrical stimulation in early experiments. This variability was reduced as the protocol was repeated and my surgical technique improved. The significant attenuation in MAP in SPIR treated SHR and the trend towards attenuation in other measures is relevant as it indicates that blocking the actions of aldosterone via antagonizing mineralocorticoid receptors may improve EPR function in hypertension. When treating hypertensive patient populations, a key goal for any anti-hypertensive therapy is to reduce the exaggerated cardiovascular response to physical therapy to a point at which an exercise regimen can safely be introduced as part of they therapy. While the reductions in HR and BP during EPR stimulation after SPIR and EPL treatment may not be statistically significant in this study, they do imply that treatment attenuates EPR overactivity and may reduce some of the risk accompanying exercise in hypertensive patients.

Mineralocorticoid Receptors and the Muscle Mechanoreflex

Following activation of the EPR, the mechanically sensitive arm of the reflex was isolated and stimulated by passive muscle stretch. These data show that SPIR and EPL treatment significantly

attenuated the exaggerated cardiovascular response to mechanoreflex activation in hypertensive animals. As during muscle contraction protocols, blockade of mineralocorticoid receptors with SPIR had no effect on the stretch-induced MAP and HR responses in normotensive WKY. The variability in these experiments was greatly reduced because of an easier surgical protocol and the ability to produce a more consistent stretch between individual experiments. While the pressor responses to mechanoreflex activation were still elevated in SHR after SPIR and EPL treatment when compared to WKY, they were reduced as compared to SHR fed NC. This latter finding shows antagonizing MR with either SPIR or EPL significantly attenuates muscle mechanoreflex over-activity in hypertension.

Recommendations

There are multiple venues for expanding this work in the future. First and foremost in these recommendations is the inclusion of future experiments that look at the chemically-sensitive arm of the EPR (*i.e.* the muscle metaboreflex). Another key area in which the physiological component of these studies can be expanded is the measurement of renal SNA in hypertensive animals treated with MR antagonists. The role for mineralocorticoid receptor activation in cardiovascular regulation can also be further investigated by performing controlled exercise studies in SHR rats receiving SPIR and EPL. While this technique would not isolate the EPR response from central command or arterial baroreceptor reflex, these experiments would validate

further investigations into the EPR and its individual components, the mechano- and metaboreflexes.

In these studies, it was shown that reductions in the pressor and tachycardic response to EPR and mechanoreflex activation in hypertension are mediated in a MR-specific manner. SPIR has been shown to bind with high affinity to mineralocorticoid receptors, androgen receptors, progesterone receptors, and glucocorticoid receptors (40). By using EPL, which has a higher selectivity for mineralocorticoid receptors, we are able to demonstrate that the mechanism of action for SPIR and EPL is most likely conducted through an MR receptor-mediated pathway. The decision between using SPIR or EPL in patients has great clinical relevance. While common side effects of SPIR such urinary frequency, drowsiness, dry skin, and rashes are relatively benign, there are also a number of gender specific effects. Due to interactions of SPIR with the androgen and progesterone receptors, males may experience such side effects as gynecomastia, general feminization, testicular atrophy, reversible infertility, and sexual dysfunction, including loss of libido and erectile dysfunction (139), while females may have menstrual irregularities and breast tenderness and enlargement (82). These undesirable side effects, especially in men, can lead to lowered compliance in adhering to treatment regimens. EPL is not without its downsides either. While EPL does not have the androgenic side effects that SPIR does, EPL is a much more costly drug, often times placing it above the budget of lower-income patients. Physicians must balance these concerns when selecting the best, personalized therapy for patients.

The mechanisms through which activation of mineralocorticoid receptors induce EPR and mechanoreflex over-activity in hypertension have yet to be elucidated, but could either through potential changes in MR receptor expression, or through the downstream effects of enzymes known to associate with MR activity such as HSD2, ENaC, or serine/threonine-protein kinase 1 (SGK1).

GABA STUDIES

Central-Acting GABA Synthesis and the Muscle Mechanoreflex

A significant attenuation in the MAP and HR response to passive stretch was observed in WKY animals after 3-MP microdialysis that was not seen in SHR animals. As GABA synthesis is controlled presynaptically, the lack of a decreased effect in hypertensive animals suggests that there may be changes in postsynaptic receptor expression. Alternatively, there may be a change in the sensitivity of postsynaptic GABA receptors that accounts for the difference between normotensive and hypertensive animals. Regardless of the mechanism, the findings suggest that GABA plays a significant role in the central modulation of mechanoreflex function within the NTS of normotensive animals. This modulatory ability appears to be lost after the development of hypertension.

Role of Central GABA_A Receptors in Modulating Mechanoreflex Function

Similar to treatment with 3-MP, antagonism of GABA_A receptors with BIC produced a trend towards a reduction in the cardiovascular response to activation of the mechanoreflex in WKY, albeit statistically insignificant. Also similar to the GABA synthesis experiments, the microdialysis of BIC within the NTS of SHR animals had no appreciable effect on the pressor or tachycardic responses to passive muscle stretch. As the GABA_A receptor resides on the postsynaptic membrane (150), this supports the concept that there is a change in the sensitivity of GABAergic neurons post-synaptically in hypertensive animals. Although not statistically significant, the findings further suggest that the modulatory actions of GABA on mechanoreflex function within the NTS of normotensive rats are mediated through GABA_A receptors.

Role of Central GABA_B Receptor in Modulating Mechanoreflex Function

There were no significant differences in the MAP or HR responses to mechanoreflex activation before or after the microdialysis of SAC within the NTS in either WKY or SHR. This may be due to the fact that the number of animals used in this study was relatively low. Another possible explanation is that GABA_B receptors are present on pre- and postsynaptic neuron terminals and may exhibit differential activity based on their localization. The presence of populations in each location may mask the effects of a subpopulation in this study. In any event, the results suggest that $GABA_B$ receptors are not involved in the central processing of mechanoreflex afferent information within the NTS of either normotensive or hypertensive animals.

Recommendations

At present, the contribution of GABA to the modulation of mechanoreflex function within the NTS is the only component of the EPR that was studied, largely due to the time constraints required for the protocol. The experimental design takes approximately 6-7 hours to complete, limiting the number of different experiments that can be conducted within one animal while the preparation is still viable. Experiments exploring the role of GABAergic activity in the central processing of metaboreflex sensory input, as well as EPR afferent information within the NTS are still required in both normotensive and hypertensive animals. Additionally, quantifying the expression of the GABA receptor subtypes within the NTS in SHR compared with WKY may provide additional insights into the regulation of muscle reflex activity via GABAergic neurons.

SUMMARY REMARKS

The ultimate goal of all research in hypertension is to find ways to prevent the onset of the disease in individuals who do not have it and to find cures for those who already have chronically elevated blood pressures. Investigations into the mechanisms behind the development and onset of hypertension will ultimately lead to better treatment modalities

towards these ends. The simple truth is that as hypertension rates continue to increase in every age demographic, race, and country in the world, the problem is only going to become more manifest. Exercise is the only treatment that has been consistently shown to have a positive effect in reducing hypertension in patients. The problem is that with exercise in hypertensive patients, there is an increased risk of myocardial ischemia, infarction, cardiac arrest, stroke, and possibly death during and after physical activity (78, 116, 144, 162, 163).

Based on previous studies in our lab and others, understanding the mechanisms underlying the pathogenesis of EPR over-activity in hypertension is key to in making inroads towards the safe prescription of exercise in this disease. The studies in this dissertation advance our knowledge in this area by: 1) demonstrating SPIR and EPL can be used as effective treatments to reduce exaggerated cardiovascular responses produced by EPR activation in hypertension, and 2) GABA maintains the ability to modulate muscle mechanoreflex activity within the NTS via activation of GABA_A receptors in normotension with this ability being compromised after the development of hypertension. The results of these studies support the original hypothesis that antagonizing mineralocorticoid receptors in hypertensive animals reduces EPR over-activity towards a more normal phenotype. Conversely, the experiments do not support the original hypothesis that blocking GABA synthesis and/or antagonizing GABA receptors within the NTS normalizes the cardiovascular response to mechanoreflex activation in hypertensive animals. As is always the case with basic science investigations using animal models, translational studies are

needed before the findings of this research can be applied to the treatment of EPR dysfunction in hypertensive humans.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. **Adreani CM**, **Kaufman MP**. Effect of arterial occlusion on responses of group III and IV afferents to dynamic exercise. *J Appl Physiol* 84: 1827–1833, 1998.
- 2. **Aicher SA**, **Randich A**. Antinociception and cardiovascular responses produced by electrical stimulation in the nucleus tractus solitarius, nucleus reticularis ventralis, and the caudal medulla. *Pain* 42: 103–119, 1990.
- 3. **Alam M**, **Smirk FH**. Observations in man upon a blood pressure raising reflex arising from the voluntary muscles. *J Physiol (Lond)* 89: 372–383, 1937.
- 4. **Alam M**, **Smirk FH**. Unilateral loss of a blood pressure raising, pulse accelerating, reflex from voluntary muscle due to a lesion of the spinal cord. *Clin Sci Lond* 3: 247–252, 1938.
- 5. **Alam M, Smirk FH**. Observations in man on a pulse-accelerating reflex from the voluntary muscles of the legs. *J Physiol (Lond)* 92: 167–177, 1938.
- 6. **Allen AM**. Blockade of angiotensin AT1-receptors in the rostral ventrolateral medulla of spontaneously hypertensive rats reduces blood pressure and sympathetic nerve discharge. *Journal of Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System* 2: S120–S124, 2001.
- American Heart Association. American Heart Association Recommendations for Physical Activity in Adults [Online]. [no date]. http://www.heart.org/HEARTORG/GettingHealthy/PhysicalActivity/StartWalking/ American-Heart-Association-Guidelines_UCM_307976_Article.jsp [24 Jun. 2015].
- 8. **Andresen MC**, **Yang M**. Dynamics of sensory afferent synaptic transmission in aortic baroreceptor regions on nucleus tractus solitarius. *J Neurophysiol* 74: 1518–1528, 1995.
- 9. **Asmussen E, Johansen SH, Jorgensen M, Nielsen M**. On the Nervous Factors Controlling Respiration and Circulation During Exercise. Experiments with Curarization. *Acta Physiol Scand* 63: 343–350, 1965.
- 10. **Bailey TW**, **Appleyard SM**, **Jin Y-H**, **Andresen MC**. Organization and properties of GABAergic neurons in solitary tract nucleus (NTS). *J Neurophysiol* 99: 1712–1722, 2008.

- 11. **Bennett JA**, **McWilliam PN**, **Shepheard SL**. A gamma-aminobutyric-acidmediated inhibition of neurones in the nucleus tractus solitarius of the cat. *J Physiol* (*Lond*) 392: 417–430, 1987.
- 12. **Bomback AS**, **Klemmer PJ**. The incidence and implications of aldosterone breakthrough. *Nat Clin Pract Nephrol* 3: 486–492, 2007.
- 13. **Boulé NG, Haddad E, Kenny GP, Wells GA, Sigal RJ**. Effects of exercise on glycemic control and body mass in type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of controlled clinical trials. *JAMA* 286: 1218–1227, 2001.
- 14. **British Heart Foundation**. Staying active [Online]. [no date]. http://www.bhf.org.uk/heart-health/prevention/staying-active.aspx [24 Jun. 2015].
- 15. **Buigues C, Padilla-Sánchez C, Garrido JF, Navarro-Martínez R, Ruiz-Ros V, Cauli O**. The relationship between depression and frailty syndrome: a systematic review. *Aging Ment Health* 19: 762–772, 2015.
- 16. **Catelli JM**, **Giakas WJ**, **Sved AF**. GABAergic mechanisms in nucleus tractus solitarius alter blood pressure and vasopressin release. *Brain Res* 403: 279–289, 1987.
- 17. **Chan RK**, **Sawchenko PE**. Organization and transmitter specificity of medullary neurons activated by sustained hypertension: implications for understanding baroreceptor reflex circuitry. *J Neurosci* 18: 371–387, 1998.
- 18. Cheema Y, Zhao W, Zhao T, Khan MU, Green KD, Ahokas RA, Gerling IC, Bhattacharya SK, Weber KT. Reverse remodeling and recovery from cachexia in rats with aldosteronism. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 303: H486–95, 2012.
- Chen CC, Akopian AN, Sivilotti L, Colquhoun D, Burnstock G, Wood JN. A P2X purinoceptor expressed by a subset of sensory neurons. *Nature* 377: 428–431, 1995.
- Choi H-M, Stebbins CL, Lee O-T, Nho H, Lee J-H, Chun J-M, Kim K-A, Kim J-K. Augmentation of the exercise pressor reflex in prehypertension: roles of the muscle metaboreflex and mechanoreflex. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 38: 209–215, 2013.
- 21. Cicoira M, Zanolla L, Franceschini L, Rossi A, Golia G, Zeni P, Caruso B, Zardini P. Relation of aldosterone "escape" despite angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitor administration to impaired exercise capacity in chronic congestive heart failure secondary to ischemic or idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Am J Cardiol* 89: 403–407, 2002.

- 22. **Clarke PM, Walter SJ, Hayen A, Mallon WJ, Heijmans J, Studdert DM.** Survival of the fittest: retrospective cohort study of the longevity of Olympic medallists in the modern era. *BMJ* 345: e8308–e8308, 2012.
- 23. **Clarke PM, Walter SJ, Hayen A, Mallon WJ, Heijmans J, Studdert DM.** Survival of the fittest: retrospective cohort study of the longevity of Olympic medallists in the modern era. *Br J Sports Med* 49: 898–902, 2015.
- 24. Committee for the Update of the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, Institute for Laboratory Animal Research, Division on Earth and Life Studies, National Research Council of the National Academies. *Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals:*. Eighth. Washington, DC: National Academies Press, 2010.
- 25. **Cook SP, Vulchanova L, Hargreaves KM, Elde R, McCleskey EW**. Distinct ATP receptors on pain-sensing and stretch-sensing neurons. *Nature* 387: 505–508, 1997.
- 26. **Coote JH**, **Hilton SM**, **Perez-Gonzalez JF**. The reflex nature of the pressor response to muscular exercise. *J Physiol (Lond)* 215: 789–804, 1971.
- 27. **Cui J, Moradkhan R, Mascarenhas V, Momen A, Sinoway LI**. Cyclooxygenase inhibition attenuates sympathetic responses to muscle stretch in humans. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294: H2693–700, 2008.
- 28. **Dampney RAL, Horiuchi J, Tagawa T, Fontes MAP, Potts PD, Polson JW**. Medullary and supramedullary mechanisms regulating sympathetic vasomotor tone. *Acta Physiol Scand* 177: 209–218, 2003.
- 29. **Dampney RAL**, **Tan PSP**, **Sheriff MJ**, **Fontes MAP**, **Horiuchi J**. Cardiovascular effects of angiotensin II in the rostral ventrolateral medulla: the push-pull hypothesis. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 9: 222–227, 2007.
- 30. **de Champlain J, Petrovich M, Gonzalez M, Lebeau R, Nadeau R**. Abnormal cardiovascular reactivity in borderline and mild essential hypertension. *Hypertension* 17: III22–8, 1991.
- 31. de Kloet ER, Van Acker SA, Sibug RM, Oitzl MS, Meijer OC, Rahmouni K, de Jong W. Brain mineralocorticoid receptors and centrally regulated functions. *Kidney Int* 57: 1329–1336, 2000.
- 32. **Delaney EP, Greaney JL, Edwards DG, Rose WC, Fadel PJ, Farquhar WB**. Exaggerated sympathetic and pressor responses to handgrip exercise in older hypertensive humans: role of the muscle metaboreflex. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 299: H1318–27, 2010.

- 33. Dhruva A, Bhatnagar T, Sapru HN. Cardiovascular responses to microinjections of glutamate into the nucleus tractus solitarii of unanesthetized supracollicular decerebrate rats. *Brain Res* 801: 88–100, 1998.
- 34. Drenowatz C, Hand GA, Sagner M, Shook RP, Burgess S, Blair SN. The Prospective Association Between Different Types of Exercise and Body Composition. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* (May 12, 2015). doi: 10.1249/MSS.00000000000000701.
- 35. **Dufour A, Tell F, Kessler J-P, Baude A**. Mixed GABA-glycine synapses delineate a specific topography in the nucleus tractus solitarii of adult rat. *J Physiol (Lond)* 588: 1097–1115, 2010.
- 36. **Durgam VR**, **Vitela M**, **Mifflin SW**. Enhanced gamma-aminobutyric acid-B receptor agonist responses and mRNA within the nucleus of the solitary tract in hypertension. *Hypertension* 33: 530–536, 1999.
- 37. **Dzau V**. The cardiovascular continuum and renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system blockade. *J Hypertens Suppl* 23: S9–17, 2005.
- 38. Erickson JD, De Gois S, Varoqui H, Schafer MK-H, Weihe E. Activitydependent regulation of vesicular glutamate and GABA transporters: a means to scale quantal size. *Neurochem Int* 48: 643–649, 2006.
- 39. **Fagard R**, **Staessen J**, **Amery A**. Maximal aerobic power in essential hypertension. *J Hypertens* 6: 859–865, 1988.
- 40. Fagart J, Hillisch A, Huyet J, Bärfacker L, Fay M, Pleiss U, Pook E, Schäfer S, Rafestin-Oblin M-E, Kolkhof P. A new mode of mineralocorticoid receptor antagonism by a potent and selective nonsteroidal molecule. *J Biol Chem* 285: 29932–29940, 2010.
- 41. **Felder RB**. Mineralocorticoid receptors, inflammation and sympathetic drive in a rat model of systolic heart failure. *Exp Physiol* 95: 19–25, 2010.
- 42. **Ferguson AV**, Latchford KJ. Local circuitry regulates the excitability of rat neurohypophysial neurones. *Exp Physiol* 85 Spec No: 1538–161S, 2000.
- Fiebeler A, Nussberger J, Shagdarsuren E, Rong S, Hilfenhaus G, Al-Saadi N, Dechend R, Wellner M, Meiners S, Maser-Gluth C, Jeng AY, Webb RL, Luft FC, Muller DN. Aldosterone synthase inhibitor ameliorates angiotensin II-induced organ damage. *Circulation* 111: 3087–3094, 2005.

- 44. **Filipovský J, Ducimetière P, Safar ME**. Prognostic significance of exercise blood pressure and heart rate in middle-aged men. *Hypertension* 20: 333–339, 1992.
- 45. **Fisher JP, Bell MPD, White MJ**. Cardiovascular responses to human calf muscle stretch during varying levels of muscle metaboreflex activation. *Exp Physiol* 90: 773–781, 2005.
- 46. **Fisher JP, Ogoh S, Young CN, Keller DM, Fadel PJ**. Exercise intensity influences cardiac baroreflex function at the onset of isometric exercise in humans. *J Appl Physiol* 103: 941–947, 2007.
- Fontes MA, Baltatu O, Caligiorne SM, Campagnole-Santos MJ, Ganten D,
 Bader M, Santos RA. Angiotensin peptides acting at rostral ventrolateral medulla contribute to hypertension of TGR(mREN2)27 rats. *Physiol Genomics* 2: 137–142, 2000.
- 48. Fontes MA, Martins Pinge MC, Naves V, Campagnole-Santos MJ, Lopes OU, Khosla MC, Santos RA. Cardiovascular effects produced by microinjection of angiotensins and angiotensin antagonists into the ventrolateral medulla of freely moving rats. *Brain Res* 750: 305–310, 1997.
- 49. **Francis J, Beltz T, Johnson AK, Felder RB**. Mineralocorticoids act centrally to regulate blood-borne tumor necrosis factor-alpha in normal rats. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 285: R1402–9, 2003.
- 50. Francis J, Weiss RM, Wei SG, Johnson AK, Beltz TG, Zimmerman K, Felder RB. Central mineralocorticoid receptor blockade improves volume regulation and reduces sympathetic drive in heart failure. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 281: H2241–51, 2001.
- 51. Gamboa-Esteves FO, Tavares I, Almeida A, Batten TF, McWilliam PN, Lima D. Projection sites of superficial and deep spinal dorsal horn cells in the nucleus tractus solitarii of the rat. *Brain Res* 921: 195–205, 2001.
- 52. **Gaudet EA, Godwin SJ, Head GA**. Role of central catecholaminergic pathways in the actions of endogenous ANG II on sympathetic reflexes. *Am J Physiol* 275: R1174–84, 1998.
- 53. **Geerling JC, Engeland WC, Kawata M, Loewy AD**. Aldosterone target neurons in the nucleus tractus solitarius drive sodium appetite. *J Neurosci* 26: 411–417, 2006.

- 54. **Geerling JC**, **Kawata M**, **Loewy AD**. Aldosterone-sensitive neurons in the rat central nervous system. *J Comp Neurol* 494: 515–527, 2006.
- 55. **Geerling JC**, **Loewy AD**. Aldosterone in the brain. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* 297: F559–76, 2009.
- 56. **Gladwell VF**, **Coote JH**. Heart rate at the onset of muscle contraction and during passive muscle stretch in humans: a role for mechanoreceptors. *J Physiol (Lond)* 540: 1095–1102, 2002.
- 57. **Glezer GA**, **Lediashova GA**. Changes in general haemodynamics and renal function during exercise in patients with arterial hypertension. *Cor Vasa* 17: 1–13, 1975.
- 58. **Gomez-Sanchez EP**, **Ahmad N**, **Romero DG**, **Gomez-Sanchez CE**. Is aldosterone synthesized within the rat brain? *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab* 288: E342–6, 2005.
- 59. **Gomez-Sanchez EP, Gomez-Sanchez CM, Plonczynski M, Gomez-Sanchez CE**. Aldosterone synthesis in the brain contributes to Dahl salt-sensitive rat hypertension. *Exp Physiol* 95: 120–130, 2010.
- 60. **Gomez-Sanchez EP**. Intracerebroventricular infusion of aldosterone induces hypertension in rats. *Endocrinology* 118: 819–823, 1986.
- 61. **Gomez-Sanchez EP**. The mammalian mineralocorticoid receptor: tying down a promiscuous receptor. *Exp Physiol* 95: 13–18, 2010.
- 62. **Goodman JM**, McLaughlin PR, Plyley MJ, Holloway RM, Fell D, Logan AG, Liu PP. Impaired cardiopulmonary response to exercise in moderate hypertension. *Can J Cardiol* 8: 363–371, 1992.
- 63. **Goodwin GM**, **McCloskey DI**, **Mitchell JH**. Cardiovascular and respiratory responses to changes in central command during isometric exercise at constant muscle tension. *J Physiol (Lond)* 226: 173–190, 1972.
- 64. **Greaney JL**, **Matthews EL**, **Boggs ME**, **Edwards DG**, **Duncan RL**, **Farquhar WB**. Exaggerated exercise pressor reflex in adults with moderately elevated systolic blood pressure: role of purinergic receptors. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 306: H132–41, 2014.

- 65. Hallgren M, Kraepelien M, Öjehagen A, Lindefors N, Zeebari Z, Kaldo V, Forsell Y. Physical exercise and internet-based cognitive behavioural therapy in the treatment of depression: randomised controlled trial. *Br J Psychiatry* (June 18, 2015). doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.114.160101.
- 66. **Hamada M, Kazatani Y, Shigematsu Y, Ito T, Kokubu T, Ishise S**. Enhanced blood pressure response to isometric handgrip exercise in patients with essential hypertension: effects of propranolol and prazosin. *J Hypertens* 5: 305–309, 1987.
- 67. **Hamill OP**, **McBride DW**. The pharmacology of mechanogated membrane ion channels. *Pharmacol Rev* 48: 231–252, 1996.
- 68. **Hanna RL**, **Hayes SG**, **Kaufman MP**. alpha, beta-Methylene ATP elicits a reflex pressor response arising from muscle in decerebrate cats. *J Appl Physiol* 93: 834–841, 2002.
- 69. **Hansen J, Thomas GD, Harris SA, Parsons WJ, Victor RG**. Differential sympathetic neural control of oxygenation in resting and exercising human skeletal muscle. *J Clin Invest* 98: 584–596, 1996.
- 70. Hattori T, Murase T, Sugiura Y, Nagasawa K, Takahashi K, Ohtake M, Ohtake M, Miyachi M, Murohara T, Nagata K. Effects of salt status and blockade of mineralocorticoid receptors on aldosterone-induced cardiac injury. *Hypertens Res* 37: 125–133, 2014.
- 71. **Hayashi N, Koba S, Yoshida T**. Disuse atrophy increases the muscle mechanoreflex in rats. *J Appl Physiol* 99: 1442–1445, 2005.
- 72. **Hayes SG**, **Kaufman MP**. Gadolinium attenuates exercise pressor reflex in cats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 280: H2153–61, 2001.
- 73. **Hayes SG**, **McCord JL**, **Koba S**, **Kaufman MP**. Gadolinium inhibits group III but not group IV muscle afferent responses to dynamic exercise. *J Physiol (Lond)* 587: 873–882, 2009.
- 74. **Hayes SG**, **McCord JL**, **Rainier J**, **Liu Z**, **Kaufman MP**. Role played by acidsensitive ion channels in evoking the exercise pressor reflex. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 295: H1720–5, 2008.
- 75. **Head GA, Williams NS**. Hemodynamic effects of central angiotensin I, II, and III in conscious rabbits. *Am J Physiol* 263: R845–51, 1992.
- 76. **Heymans C**, **Pannier R**. Presso-receptors of the carotid sinus and respiration. J *Physiol (Lond)* 104: 40, 1946.

- 77. **Heymans C**. Reflexogenic areas of the cardiovascular system. *Perspect Biol Med* 3: 409–417, 1960.
- 78. Hoberg E, Schuler G, Kunze B, Obermoser AL, Hauer K, Mautner HP, Schlierf G, Kübler W. Silent myocardial ischemia as a potential link between lack of premonitoring symptoms and increased risk of cardiac arrest during physical stress. *Am J Cardiol* 65: 583–589, 1990.
- 79. **Hu L, Zhu D-N, Yu Z, Wang JQ, Sun Z-J, Yao T**. Expression of angiotensin II type 1 (AT(1)) receptor in the rostral ventrolateral medulla in rats. *J Appl Physiol* 92: 2153–2161, 2002.
- 80. **Huang BS, Wang H, Leenen FHH**. Chronic central infusion of aldosterone leads to sympathetic hyperreactivity and hypertension in Dahl S but not Dahl R rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 288: H517–24, 2005.
- 81. **Huang BS, White RA, Jeng AY, Leenen FHH**. Role of central nervous system aldosterone synthase and mineralocorticoid receptors in salt-induced hypertension in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 296: R994–R1000, 2009.
- 82. **Hughes BR**, **Cunliffe WJ**. Tolerance of spironolactone. *Br J Dermatol* 118: 687–691, 1988.
- 83. **Huntsman MM**, **Isackson PJ**, **Jones EG**. Lamina-specific expression and activitydependent regulation of seven GABAA receptor subunit mRNAs in monkey visual cortex. *J Neurosci* 14: 2236–2259, 1994.
- 84. **Innes JA, Solarte I, Huszczuk A, Yeh E, Whipp BJ, Wasserman K**. Respiration during recovery from exercise: effects of trapping and release of femoral blood flow. *J Appl Physiol* 67: 2608–2613, 1989.
- 85. **Ishide T, Maher TJ, Pearce WJ, Nauli SM, Chaiyakul P, Ally A**. Simultaneous glutamate and gamma-aminobutyric acid release within ventrolateral medulla during skeletal muscle contraction in intact and barodenervated rats. *Brain Res* 923: 137–146, 2001.
- 86. **Ito S, Gordon FJ, Sved AF**. Dietary salt intake alters cardiovascular responses evoked from the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Am J Physiol* 276: R1600–7, 1999.
- 87. **Ito S, Hiratsuka M, Komatsu K, Tsukamoto K, Kanmatsuse K, Sved AF**. Ventrolateral medulla AT1 receptors support arterial pressure in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. *Hypertension* 41: 744–750, 2003.

Ito S, Komatsu K, Tsukamoto K, Kanmatsuse K, Sved AF. Ventrolateral medulla AT1 receptors support blood pressure in hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 40: 552– 559, 2002. 89. Ito S, Sved AF. Influence of GABA in the nucleus of the solitary tract on blood pressure in baroreceptor-denervated rats. Am J Physiol 273: R1657-62, 1997. 90. James PA, Oparil S, Carter BL, Cushman WC, Dennison-Himmelfarb C, Handler J, Lackland DT, LeFevre ML, MacKenzie TD, Ogedegbe O, Smith SC, Svetkey LP, Taler SJ, Townsend RR, Wright JT, Narva AS, Ortiz E. 2014 evidence-based guideline for the management of high blood pressure in adults: report from the panel members appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). JAMA 311 American Medical Association: 507-520, 2014. 91. Jenkins TA, Allen AM, Chai SY, Mendelsohn FA. Interactions of angiotensin II with central catecholamines. Clin Exp Hypertens 17: 267-280, 1995. 92. Johansson JE. Ueber die Einwirkung der Muskelthätigkeit auf die Athmung und die Herzthätigkeit. Skandinavisches Archiv Für Physiologie 5: 20-66, 2012. 93. Jones EG. Cortical and subcortical contributions to activity-dependent plasticity in primate somatosensory cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci 23: 1-37, 2000. 94. Kagevama Y, Bravo EL. Hypertensive mechanisms associated with centrally administered aldosterone in dogs. Hypertension 11: 750-753, 1988. 95. Kaplan NM, Vitor RG. Kaplan's Clinical Hypertension. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2014. 96. Kaufman LJ, Vollmer RR. Low sodium diet augments plasma and tissue catecholamine levels in pithed rats. Clin Exp Hypertens A 6: 1543–1558, 1984. 97. Kaufman MP, Forster H. Reflexes controlling circulatory, ventilatory and airway responses to exercise. In: Handbook of Physiology. Exercise Regulation and Integration of Multiple Systems. Bethesda, MD: 1996, p. 381-447. 98. Kaufman MP, Hayes SG. The exercise pressor reflex. *Clin Auton Res* 12: 429–439, 2002. 99. Kaufman MP, Iwamoto GA, Longhurst JC, Mitchell JH. Effects of capsaicin and bradykinin on afferent fibers with ending in skeletal muscle. Circ Res 50: 133-139, 1982.

88.

- 100. **Kaufman MP, Longhurst JC, Rybicki KJ, Wallach JH, Mitchell JH**. Effects of static muscular contraction on impulse activity of groups III and IV afferents in cats. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol* 55: 105–112, 1983.
- 101. **Kaufman MP, Rybicki KJ, Waldrop TG, Ordway GA**. Effect of ischemia on responses of group III and IV afferents to contraction. *J Appl Physiol Respir Environ Exerc Physiol* 57: 644–650, 1984.
- 102. **Kaufman MP, Waldrop TG, Rybicki KJ, Ordway GA, Mitchell JH**. Effects of static and rhythmic twitch contractions on the discharge of group III and IV muscle afferents. *Cardiovasc Res* 18: 663–668, 1984.
- 103. **Kawai Y, Senba E**. Organization of excitatory and inhibitory local networks in the caudal nucleus of tractus solitarius of rats revealed in in vitro slice preparation. *J Comp Neurol* 373: 309–321, 1996.
- 104. **Kawai Y**, **Senba E**. Electrophysiological and morphological characterization of cytochemically-defined neurons in the caudal nucleus of tractus solitarius of the rat. *Neuroscience* 89: 1347–1355, 1999.
- 105. **Kazatani Y, Hamada M, Shigematsu Y, Hiwada K, Kokubu T**. Beneficial Effect of a Long-Term Antihypertensive Therapy on Blood Pressure Response to Isometric Handgrip Exercise in Patients with Essential Hypertension. *Am J Ther* 2: 165–169, 1995.
- 106. **Kearney PM**, **Whelton M**, **Reynolds K**, **Muntner P**, **Whelton PK**, **He J**. Global burden of hypertension: analysis of worldwide data. *Lancet* 365: 217–223, 2005.
- 107. **Kelley G**, **Tran ZV**. Aerobic exercise and normotensive adults: a meta-analysis. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 27: 1371–1377, 1995.
- 108. Kelley GA, Kelley KS, Tran ZV. Walking, lipids, and lipoproteins: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Prev Med* 38: 651–661, 2004.
- 109. **Kilman V, van Rossum MCW, Turrigiano GG**. Activity deprivation reduces miniature IPSC amplitude by decreasing the number of postsynaptic GABA(A) receptors clustered at neocortical synapses. *J Neurosci* 22: 1328–1337, 2002.
- 110. **Kindig AE**, **Hayes SG**, **Hanna RL**, **Kaufman MP**. P2 antagonist PPADS attenuates responses of thin fiber afferents to static contraction and tendon stretch. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 290: H1214–9, 2006.

- 111. **Kindig AE**, **Hayes SG**, **Kaufman MP**. Purinergic 2 receptor blockade prevents the responses of group IV afferents to post-contraction circulatory occlusion. *J Physiol (Lond)* 578: 301–308, 2007.
- 112. **Kindig AE**, **Hayes SG**, **Kaufman MP**. Blockade of purinergic 2 receptors attenuates the mechanoreceptor component of the exercise pressor reflex. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 293: H2995–3000, 2007.
- 113. **Kjeldsen SE, Mundal R, Sandvik L, Erikssen G, Thaulow E, Erikssen J**. Supine and exercise systolic blood pressure predict cardiovascular death in middle-aged men. *J Hypertens* 19: 1343–1348, 2001.
- 114. **Koba S, Watanabe R, Kano N, Watanabe T**. Oxidative stress exaggerates skeletal muscle contraction-evoked reflex sympathoexcitation in rats with hypertension induced by angiotensin II. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 304: H142–53, 2013.
- 115. Kokkinos P, Myers J, Faselis C, Panagiotakos DB, Doumas M, Pittaras A, Manolis A, Kokkinos JP, Karasik P, Greenberg M, Papademetriou V, Fletcher R. Exercise capacity and mortality in older men: a 20-year follow-up study. *Circulation* 122: 790–797, 2010.
- 116. Kokkinos PF, Andreas PE, Coutoulakis E, Colleran JA, Narayan P, Dotson CO, Choucair W, Farmer C, Fernhall B. Determinants of exercise blood pressure response in normotensive and hypertensive women: role of cardiorespiratory fitness. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil* 22: 178–183, 2002.
- 117. **Komine H, Matsukawa K, Tsuchimochi H, Murata J**. Central command blunts the baroreflex bradycardia to aortic nerve stimulation at the onset of voluntary static exercise in cats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 285: H516–26, 2003.
- 118. Kontak AC, Wang Z, Arbique D, Adams-Huet B, Auchus RJ, Nesbitt SD, Victor RG, Vongpatanasin W. Reversible sympathetic overactivity in hypertensive patients with primary aldosteronism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 95: 4756–4761, 2010.
- 119. **Krogh A**, **Lindhard J**. The regulation of respiration and circulation during the initial stages of muscular work. *J Physiol (Lond)* 47: 112–136, 1913.
- 120. **Krogh A**, **Lindhard J**. A comparison between voluntary and electrically induced muscular work in man. *J Physiol (Lond)* 51: 182–201, 1917.
- 121. **Kumazawa T**, **Mizumura K**. Thin-fibre receptors responding to mechanical, chemical, and thermal stimulation in the skeletal muscle of the dog. *J Physiol (Lond)* 273: 179–194, 1977.

- 122. **Lanfranchi PA**, **Somers VK**. Arterial baroreflex function and cardiovascular variability: interactions and implications. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 283: R815–26, 2002.
- 123. Laurin D, Verreault R, Lindsay J, MacPherson K, Rockwood K. Physical activity and risk of cognitive impairment and dementia in elderly persons. *Arch Neurol* 58: 498–504, 2001.
- 124. **Leal AK**, **McCord JL**, **Tsuchimochi H**, **Kaufman MP**. Blockade of the TP receptor attenuates the exercise pressor reflex in decerebrated rats with chronic femoral artery occlusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 301: H2140–6, 2011.
- 125. **Leal AK**, **Mitchell JH**, **Smith SA**. Treatment of muscle mechanoreflex dysfunction in hypertension: effects of L-arginine dialysis in the nucleus tractus solitarii. *Exp Physiol* 98: 1337–1348, 2013.
- 126. Leal AK, Murphy MN, Iwamoto GA, Mitchell JH, Smith SA. A role for nitric oxide within the nucleus tractus solitarii in the development of muscle mechanoreflex dysfunction in hypertension. *Exp Physiol* 97: 1292–1304, 2012.
- 127. **Leal AK**, **Williams MA**, **Garry MG**, **Mitchell JH**, **Smith SA**. Evidence for functional alterations in the skeletal muscle mechanoreflex and metaboreflex in hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 295: H1429–38, 2008.
- 128. Lee D-C, Pate RR, Lavie CJ, Sui X, Church TS, Blair SN. Leisure-time running reduces all-cause and cardiovascular mortality risk. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 64: 472–481, 2014.
- 129. Lee I-M. Physical activity and cancer prevention--data from epidemiologic studies. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 35: 1823–1827, 2003.
- 130. Leonard B, Mitchell JH, Mizuno M, Rube N, Saltin B, Secher NH. Partial neuromuscular blockade and cardiovascular responses to static exercise in man. J *Physiol (Lond)* 359: 365–379, 1985.
- 131. Lewis C, Neidhart S, Holy C, North RA, Buell G, Surprenant A. Coexpression of P2X2 and P2X3 receptor subunits can account for ATP-gated currents in sensory neurons. *Nature* 377: 432–435, 1995.
- 132. Lewis GD, Gona P, Larson MG, Plehn JF, Benjamin EJ, O'Donnell CJ, Levy D, Vasan RS, Wang TJ. Exercise blood pressure and the risk of incident cardiovascular disease (from the Framingham Heart Study). *Am J Cardiol* 101: 1614–1620, 2008.

- 133. Li J, Gao Z, Kehoe V, Xing J, King N, Sinoway L. Interstitial adenosine triphosphate modulates muscle afferent nerve-mediated pressor reflex. *Muscle Nerve* 38: 972–977, 2008.
- 134. **Lim PO, Donnan PT, MacDonald TM**. Blood pressure determinants of left ventricular wall thickness and mass index in hypertension: comparing office, ambulatory and exercise blood pressures. *J Hum Hypertens* 15: 627–633, 2001.
- 135. Lim PO, MacFadyen RJ, Clarkson PB, MacDonald TM. Impaired exercise tolerance in hypertensive patients. *Ann Intern Med* 124: 41–55, 1996.
- 136. Liu J, Li JD, Lu J, Xing J, Li J. Contribution of nerve growth factor to upregulation of P2X₃ expression in DRG neurons of rats with femoral artery occlusion. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 301: H1070–9, 2011.
- 137. **Loewy AD**, **Spyer KM**. *Central Regulation of Autonomic Functions*. Oxford University Press, USA, 1990.
- 138. **Lopresti AL**. A review of nutrient treatments for paediatric depression. *J Affect Disord* 181: 24–32, 2015.
- 139. Loriaux DL, Menard R, Taylor A, Pita JC, Santen R. Spironolactone and endocrine dysfunction. *Ann Intern Med* 85: 630–636, 1976.
- 140. **Lund-Johansen P**. Twenty-year follow-up of hemodynamics in essential hypertension during rest and exercise. *Hypertension* 18: III54–61, 1991.
- 141. MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, Collins R, Sorlie P, Neaton J, Abbott R, Godwin J, Dyer A, Stamler J. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. *Lancet* 335: 765–774, 1990.
- 142. **Mancia G, Iannos J, Jamieson GG, Lawrence RH, Sharman PR, Ludbrook J**. Effect of isometric hand-grip exercise on the carotid sinus baroreceptor reflex in man. *Clin Sci Mol Med* 54: 33–37, 1978.
- Mancia G, Mark AL. Arterial baroreflexes in humans. The Cardiovascular System. Peripheral Circulation and Organ Blood Flow. *The Handbook of Physiology* III, pt. 2: 755–793, 1983.
- 144. Manolis AJ, Beldekos D, Hatzissavas J, Foussas S, Cokkinos D, Bresnahan M, Gavras I, Gavras H. Hemodynamic and humoral correlates in essential hypertension: relationship between patterns of LVH and myocardial ischemia. *Hypertension* 30: 730–734, 1997.

- 145. **Marey E-J**. *Physiologie médicale de la circulation du sang*. 1863.
- 146. Mark AL, Victor RG, Nerhed C, Wallin BG. Microneurographic studies of the mechanisms of sympathetic nerve responses to static exercise in humans. *Circ Res* 57: 461–469, 1985.
- 147. Marraccini P, Palombo C, Giaconi S, Michelassi C, Genovesi-Ebert A, Marabotti C, Fommei E, Ghione S, L'Abbate A. Reduced cardiovascular efficiency and increased reactivity during exercise in borderline and established hypertension. *Am J Hypertens* 2: 913–916, 1989.
- 148. **McClain J, Hardy C, Enders B, Smith M, Sinoway L**. Limb congestion and sympathoexcitation during exercise. Implications for congestive heart failure. *J Clin Invest* 92: 2353–2359, 1993.
- 149. **McCloskey DI**, **Mitchell JH**. Reflex cardiovascular and respiratory responses originating in exercising muscle. *J Physiol (Lond)* 224: 173–186, 1972.
- 150. **Mehta AK**, **Ticku MK**. An update on GABAA receptors. *Brain Res Brain Res Rev* 29: 196–217, 1999.
- 151. **Mei L**, **Zhang J**, **Mifflin S**. Hypertension alters GABA receptor-mediated inhibition of neurons in the nucleus of the solitary tract. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 285: R1276–86, 2003.
- 152. **Mendelowitz D, Yang M, Andresen MC, Kunze DL**. Localization and retention in vitro of fluorescently labeled aortic baroreceptor terminals on neurons from the nucleus tractus solitarius. *Brain Res* 581: 339–343, 1992.
- 153. Mendis S, Puska P, Norrving B, World Health Organization. *Global Atlas on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention and Control*. World Health Organization, 2011.
- Menon DV, Arbique D, Wang Z, Adams-Huet B, Auchus RJ, Vongpatanasin W. Differential effects of chlorthalidone versus spironolactone on muscle sympathetic nerve activity in hypertensive patients. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 94: 1361–1366, 2009.
- 155. **Michael GJ**, **Priestley JV**. Differential expression of the mRNA for the vanilloid receptor subtype 1 in cells of the adult rat dorsal root and nodose ganglia and its downregulation by axotomy. *J Neurosci* 19: 1844–1854, 1999.
- 156. Middlekauff HR, Nitzsche EU, Hoh CK, Hamilton MA, Fonarow GC, Hage A, Moriguchi JD. Exaggerated renal vasoconstriction during exercise in heart failure patients. *Circulation* 101: 784–789, 2000.

- 157. Middlekauff HR, Nitzsche EU, Hoh CK, Hamilton MA, Fonarow GC, Hage A, Moriguchi JD. Exaggerated muscle mechanoreflex control of reflex renal vasoconstriction in heart failure. *J Appl Physiol* 90: 1714–1719, 2001.
- 158. Miller RL, Wang MH, Gray PA, Salkoff LB, Loewy AD. ENaC-expressing neurons in the sensory circumventricular organs become c-Fos activated following systemic sodium changes. *American Journal of Physiology - Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 305: R1141–52, 2013.
- 159. Minami N, Yoshikawa T, Kataoka H, Mori N, Nagasaka M, Kurosawa H, Kanazawa M, Kohzuki M. Effects of exercise and beta-blocker on blood pressure and baroreflexes in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Am J Hypertens* 16: 966–972, 2003.
- 160. **Mitchell JH**, **Kaufman MP**, **Iwamoto GA**. The exercise pressor reflex: its cardiovascular effects, afferent mechanisms, and central pathways. *Annu Rev Physiol* 45: 229–242, 1983.
- 161. **Mitchell JH**. J.B. Wolffe memorial lecture. Neural control of the circulation during exercise. *Med Sci Sports Exerc* 22: 141–154, 1990.
- 162. Mittleman MA, Maclure M, Tofler GH, Sherwood JB, Goldberg RJ, Muller JE. Triggering of acute myocardial infarction by heavy physical exertion. Protection against triggering by regular exertion. Determinants of Myocardial Infarction Onset Study Investigators. N Engl J Med 329: 1677–1683, 1993.
- 163. **Mittleman MA**, **Siscovick DS**. Physical exertion as a trigger of myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death. *Cardiol Clin* 14: 263–270, 1996.
- 164. **Miura T, Bhargava V, Guth BD, Sunnerhagen KS, Miyazaki S, Indolfi C, Peterson KL**. Increased afterload intensifies asynchronous wall motion and impairs ventricular relaxation. *J Appl Physiol* 75: 389–396, 1993.
- 165. Mizuno M, Downey RM, Mitchell JH, Auchus RJ, Smith SA, Vongpatanasin W. Aldosterone and Salt Loading Independently Exacerbate the Exercise Pressor Reflex in Rats. *Hypertension*, 2015.
- 166. **Mizuno M, Lozano G, Siddique K, Baum M, Smith SA**. Enalapril attenuates the exaggerated sympathetic response to physical stress in prenatally programmed hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 63: 324–329, 2014.
- 167. **Mizuno M, Murphy MN, Mitchell JH, Smith SA**. Skeletal muscle reflex-mediated changes in sympathetic nerve activity are abnormal in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 300: H968–77, 2011.

- 168. **Mizuno M, Murphy MN, Mitchell JH, Smith SA**. Antagonism of the TRPv1 receptor partially corrects muscle metaboreflex overactivity in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *J Physiol (Lond)* 589: 6191–6204, 2011.
- 169. **Mizuno M, Siddique K, Baum M, Smith SA**. Prenatal programming of hypertension induces sympathetic overactivity in response to physical stress. *Hypertension* 61: 180–186, 2013.
- 170. Mozaffarian D, Benjamin EJ, Go AS, Arnett DK, Blaha MJ, Cushman M, de Ferranti S, Després J-P, Fullerton HJ, Howard VJ, Huffman MD, Judd SE, Kissela BM, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Liu S, Mackey RH, Matchar DB, McGuire DK, Mohler ER, Moy CS, Muntner P, Mussolino ME, Nasir K, Neumar RW, Nichol G, Palaniappan L, Pandey DK, Reeves MJ, Rodriguez CJ, Sorlie PD, Stein J, Towfighi A, Turan TN, Virani SS, Willey JZ, Woo D, Yeh RW, Turner MB, American Heart Association Statistics Committee and Stroke Statistics Subcommittee. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2015 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 131: e29–322, 2015.
- 171. **Muratani H, Ferrario CM, Averill DB**. Ventrolateral medulla in spontaneously hypertensive rats: role of angiotensin II. *Am J Physiol* 264: R388–95, 1993.
- 172. **Murphy MN, Ichiyama RM, Iwamoto GA, Mitchell JH, Smith SA**. Exercise pressor reflex function following acute hemi-section of the spinal cord in cats. *Front Physiol* 4: 3, 2013.
- 173. **Murphy MN**, **Mizuno M**, **Downey RM**, **Squiers JJ**, **Squiers KE**, **Smith SA**. Neuronal nitric oxide synthase expression is lower in areas of the nucleus tractus solitarius excited by skeletal muscle reflexes in hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 304: H1547–57, 2013.
- 174. **Murphy MN**, **Mizuno M**, **Mitchell JH**, **Smith SA**. Cardiovascular regulation by skeletal muscle reflexes in health and disease. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 301: H1191–204, 2011.
- 175. **Nakamoto T**, **Matsukawa K**. Muscle mechanosensitive receptors close to the myotendinous junction of the Achilles tendon elicit a pressor reflex. *J Appl Physiol* 102: 2112–2120, 2007.
- 176. **Nakamoto T**, **Matsukawa K**. Muscle receptors close to the myotendinous junction play a role in eliciting exercise pressor reflex during contraction. *Auton Neurosci* 138: 99–107, 2008.

- 177. **Naruse M, Tanabe A, Sato A, Takagi S, Tsuchiya K, Imaki T, Takano K**. Aldosterone breakthrough during angiotensin II receptor antagonist therapy in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 40: 28–33, 2002.
- 178. **Nauli SM**, **Pearce WJ**, **Amer A**, **Maher TJ**, **Ally A**. Effects of nitric oxide and GABA interaction within ventrolateral medulla on cardiovascular responses during static muscle contraction. *Brain Res* 922: 234–242, 2001.
- 179. **Nwankwo T, Yoon SS, Burt V, Gu Q**. Hypertension among adults in the United States: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2011-2012. *NCHS Data Brief*: 1–8, 2013.
- 180. Olsen MH, Wachtell K, Hermann KL, Bella JN, Andersen UB, Dige-Petersen H, Rokkedal J, Ibsen H. Maximal exercise capacity is related to cardiovascular structure in patients with longstanding hypertension. A LIFE substudy. Losartan Intervention For Endpoint-Reduction in Hypertension. Am J Hypertens 14: 1205–1210, 2001.
- 181. Ostchega Y, Carroll M, Prineas RJ, McDowell MA, Louis T, Tilert T. Trends of elevated blood pressure among children and adolescents: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey1988-2006. *Am J Hypertens* 22: 59–67, 2009.
- 182. Patel D, Böhlke M, Phattanarudee S, Kabadi S, Maher TJ, Ally A. Cardiovascular responses and neurotransmitter changes during blockade of angiotensin II receptors within the ventrolateral medulla. *Neurosci Res* 60: 340–348, 2008.
- 183. **Paton JF**, **Rogers WT**, **Schwaber JS**. Tonically rhythmic neurons within a cardiorespiratory region of the nucleus tractus solitarii of the rat. *J Neurophysiol* 66: 824–838, 1991.
- 184. **Pawloski-Dahm CM**, **Gordon FJ**. Increased dietary salt sensitizes vasomotor neurons of the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Hypertension* 22: 929–933, 1993.
- 185. **Paxinos G**, **Watson C**. *The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates*. Academic Press, 2013.
- 186. **Philipp T, Distler A, Cordes U**. Sympathetic nervous system and blood-pressure control in essential hypertension. *Lancet* 2: 959–963, 1978.
- 187. **Phillips MI**. Functions of angiotensin in the central nervous system. *Annu Rev Physiol* 49: 413–435, 1987.

- 188. Pickering TG, Gribbin B, Petersen ES, Cunningham DJ, Sleight P. Effects of autonomic blockade on the baroreflex in man at rest and during exercise. *Circ Res* 30: 177–185, 1972.
- 189. **Pickering TG**. Pathophysiology of exercise hypertension. *Herz* 12: 119–124, 1987.
- 190. **Pickering TG**. Exercise and hypertension. *Cardiol Clin* 5: 311–318, 1987.
- 191. **Potts JT**, Lee SM, Anguelov PI. Tracing of projection neurons from the cervical dorsal horn to the medulla with the anterograde tracer biotinylated dextran amine. *Auton Neurosci* 98: 64–69, 2002.
- 192. **Potts JT**, **Paton JFR**, **Mitchell JH**, **Garry MG**, **Kline G**, **Anguelov PT**, **Lee SM**. Contraction-sensitive skeletal muscle afferents inhibit arterial baroreceptor signalling in the nucleus of the solitary tract: role of intrinsic GABA interneurons. *Neuroscience* 119: 201–214, 2003.
- 193. **Potts JT**, **Shi XR**, **Raven PB**. Carotid baroreflex responsiveness during dynamic exercise in humans. *Am J Physiol* 265: H1928–38, 1993.
- 194. **Potts JT**. Inhibitory neurotransmission in the nucleus tractus solitarii: implications for baroreflex resetting during exercise. *Exp Physiol* 91: 59–72, 2006.
- 195. **Quintin L, Gillon JY, Saunier CF, Chouvet G, Ghignone M**. Continuous volume infusion improves circulatory stability in anesthesized rats. *J Neurosci Methods* 30: 77–83, 1989.
- 196. **Rahmouni K, Barthelmebs M, Grima M, Imbs JL, de Jong W**. Involvement of brain mineralocorticoid receptor in salt-enhanced hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 38: 902–906, 2001.
- 197. **Rahmouni K, Barthelmebs M, Grima M, Imbs JL, Wybren De Jong**. Brain mineralocorticoid receptor control of blood pressure and kidney function in normotensive rats. *Hypertension* 33: 1201–1206, 1999.
- 198. **Rotto DM, Hill JM, Schultz HD, Kaufman MP**. Cyclooxygenase blockade attenuates responses of group IV muscle afferents to static contraction. *Am J Physiol* 259: H745–50, 1990.
- 199. **Rotto DM**, **Kaufman MP**. Effect of metabolic products of muscular contraction on discharge of group III and IV afferents. *J Appl Physiol* 64: 2306–2313, 1988.

- 200. Rotto DM, Schultz HD, Longhurst JC, Kaufman MP. Sensitization of group III muscle afferents to static contraction by arachidonic acid. *J Appl Physiol* 68: 861–867, 1990.
- 201. **Rotto DM**, **Stebbins CL**, **Kaufman MP**. Reflex cardiovascular and ventilatory responses to increasing H+ activity in cat hindlimb muscle. *J Appl Physiol* 67: 256–263, 1989.
- 202. Rowell LB. Human Cardiovascular Control. Oxford University Press, USA, 1993.
- 203. **Rutherford LC**, **DeWan A**, **Lauer HM**, **Turrigiano GG**. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor mediates the activity-dependent regulation of inhibition in neocortical cultures. *J Neurosci* 17: 4527–4535, 1997.
- 204. **Rybicki KJ, Kaufman MP, Kenyon JL**, **Mitchell JH**. Arterial pressure responses to increasing interstitial potassium in hindlimb muscle of dogs. *Am J Physiol* 247: R717–21, 1984.
- 205. Saavedra JM, Correa FM, Plunkett LM, Israel A, Kurihara M, Shigematsu K. Binding of angiotensin and atrial natriuretic peptide in brain of hypertensive rats. *Nature* 320: 758–760, 1986.
- 206. Saitoh M, Miyakoda H, Kitamura H, Kinugawa T, Hisatome I, Kotake H, Mashiba H. Cardiovascular and sympathetic nervous response to dynamic exercise in patients with essential hypertension. *Intern Med* 31: 606–610, 1992.
- 207. Sala-Mercado JA, Spranger MD, Abu-Hamdah R, Kaur J, Coutsos M, Stayer D, Augustyniak RA, O'Leary DS. Attenuated muscle metaboreflex-induced increases in cardiac function in hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 305: H1548–54, 2013.
- 208. **Sapru HN**, **Krieger AJ**. Procedure for the decerebration of the rat. *Brain Res Bull* 3: 675–679, 1978.
- 209. **Sausen MT, Delaney EP, Stillabower ME, Farquhar WB**. Enhanced metaboreflex sensitivity in hypertensive humans. *Eur J Appl Physiol* 105: 351–356, 2009.
- 210. Savory JGA, Prefontaine GG, Lamprecht C, Liao M, Walther RF, Lefebvre YA, Hache RJG. Glucocorticoid Receptor Homodimers and Glucocorticoid-Mineralocorticoid Receptor Heterodimers Form in the Cytoplasm through Alternative Dimerization Interfaces. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 21: 781–793, 2001.

- 211. Schild JH, Khushalani S, Clark JW, Andresen MC, Kunze DL, Yang M. An ionic current model for neurons in the rat medial nucleus tractus solitarii receiving sensory afferent input. *J Physiol (Lond)* 469: 341–363, 1993.
- 212. Schjoedt KJ, Andersen S, Rossing P, Tarnow L, Parving H-H. Aldosterone escape during blockade of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in diabetic nephropathy is associated with enhanced decline in glomerular filtration rate. *Diabetologia* 47: 1936–1939, 2004.
- 213. Schmidt TA, Bundgaard H, Olesen HL, Secher NH, Kjeldsen K. Digoxin affects potassium homeostasis during exercise in patients with heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res* 29: 506–511, 1995.
- 214. Schnohr P, O'Keefe JH, Marott JL, Lange P, Jensen GB. Dose of jogging and long-term mortality: the Copenhagen City Heart Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol* 65: 411–419, 2015.
- 215. Schütz W, Hörtnagl H, Magometschnigg D. Function of the autonomic nervous system in young, untreated hypertensive patients. *Int J Cardiol* 10: 133–140, 1986.
- 216. Serrano Ripoll MJ, Oliván-Blázquez B, Vicens-Pons E, Roca M, Gili M, Leiva A, García-Campayo J, Demarzo MP, García-Toro M. Lifestyle change recommendations in major depression: Do they work? J Affect Disord 183: 221–228, 2015.
- 217. **Shafiq MM**, **Menon DV**, **Victor RG**. Oral direct renin inhibition: premise, promise, and potential limitations of a new antihypertensive drug. *Am J Med* 121: 265–271, 2008.
- 218. **Sheehan D**, **Mulholland JH**, **Shafiroff B**. Surgical anatomy of the carotid sinus nerve. *The Anatomical Record* 80: 431–442, 1941.
- 219. Sheriff MJ, Fontes MAP, Killinger S, Horiuchi J, Dampney RAL. Blockade of AT1 receptors in the rostral ventrolateral medulla increases sympathetic activity under hypoxic conditions. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 290: R733–40, 2006.
- 220. Shirayama Y, Chen AC-H, Nakagawa S, Russell DS, Duman RS. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor produces antidepressant effects in behavioral models of depression. *J Neurosci* 22: 3251–3261, 2002.
- 221. **Simon G**. Pathogenesis of structural vascular changes in hypertension. *J Hypertens* 22: 3–10, 2004.

- 222. **Sinoway LI, Hill JM, Pickar JG, Kaufman MP**. Effects of contraction and lactic acid on the discharge of group III muscle afferents in cats. *J Neurophysiol* 69: 1053–1059, 1993.
- 223. Sinoway LI, Smith MB, Enders B, Leuenberger U, Dzwonczyk T, Gray K, Whisler S, Moore RL. Role of diprotonated phosphate in evoking muscle reflex responses in cats and humans. *Am J Physiol* 267: H770–8, 1994.
- 224. **Siragy HM**, **Carey RM**. Protective role of the angiotensin AT2 receptor in a renal wrap hypertension model. *Hypertension* 33: 1237–1242, 1999.
- 225. Smith SA, Leal AK, Murphy MN, Downey RM, Mizuno M. Muscle mechanoreflex overactivity in hypertension: a role for centrally-derived nitric oxide. *Auton Neurosci* 188: 58–63, 2015.
- 226. **Smith SA**, **Mitchell JH**, **Garry MG**. Electrically induced static exercise elicits a pressor response in the decerebrate rat. *J Physiol (Lond)* 537: 961–970, 2001.
- 227. Smith SA, Mitchell JH, Garry MG. The mammalian exercise pressor reflex in health and disease. *Exp Physiol* 91: 89–102, 2006.
- 228. Smith SA, Mitchell JH, Naseem RH, Garry MG. Mechanoreflex mediates the exaggerated exercise pressor reflex in heart failure. *Circulation* 112: 2293–2300, 2005.
- 229. Smith SA, Williams MA, Leal AK, Mitchell JH, Garry MG. Exercise pressor reflex function is altered in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *J Physiol (Lond)* 577: 1009–1020, 2006.
- 230. Smith SA, Williams MA, Mitchell JH, Mammen PPA, Garry MG. The capsaicin-sensitive afferent neuron in skeletal muscle is abnormal in heart failure. *Circulation* 111: 2056–2065, 2005.
- 231. Spranger MD, Kaur J, Sala-Mercado JA, Machado TM, Krishnan AC, Alvarez A, O'Leary DS. Attenuated muscle metaboreflex-induced pressor response during postexercise muscle ischemia in renovascular hypertension. *American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology* 308: R650–8, 2015.
- 232. **Spyer KM**. Annual review prize lecture. Central nervous mechanisms contributing to cardiovascular control. *J Physiol (Lond)* 474: 1–19, 1994.

- 233. **Stamler JF, Raizada MK, Fellows RE, Phillips MI**. Increased specific binding of angiotensin II in the organum vasculosum of the laminae terminalis area of the spontaneously hypertensive rat brain. *Neurosci Lett* 17: 173–177, 1980.
- 234. **Stebbins CL, Brown B, Levin D, Longhurst JC**. Reflex effect of skeletal muscle mechanoreceptor stimulation on the cardiovascular system. *J Appl Physiol* 65: 1539–1547, 1988.
- 235. **Stebbins CL**, **Longhurst JC**. Bradykinin-induced chemoreflexes from skeletal muscle: implications for the exercise reflex. *J Appl Physiol* 59: 56–63, 1985.
- 236. **Stebbins CL**, **Symons JD**. Role of angiotensin II in hemodynamic responses to dynamic exercise in miniswine. *J Appl Physiol* 78: 185–190, 1995.
- 237. Sung J, Ouyang P, Silber HA, Bacher AC, Turner KL, DeRegis JR, Hees PS, Shapiro EP, Stewart KJ. Exercise blood pressure response is related to left ventricular mass. *J Hum Hypertens* 17: 333–338, 2003.
- 238. **Sutherland SP, Benson CJ, Adelman JP, McCleskey EW**. Acid-sensing ion channel 3 matches the acid-gated current in cardiac ischemia-sensing neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 98: 711–716, 2001.
- 239. **Sved AF, Ito S, Sved JC**. Brainstem mechanisms of hypertension: role of the rostral ventrolateral medulla. *Curr Hypertens Rep* 5: 262–268, 2003.
- 240. **Sved AF**, **Sved JC**. Endogenous GABA acts on GABAB receptors in nucleus tractus solitarius to increase blood pressure. *Brain Res* 526: 235–240, 1990.
- 241. **Sved AF, Tsukamoto K**. Tonic stimulation of GABAB receptors in the nucleus tractus solitarius modulates the baroreceptor reflex. *Brain Res* 592: 37–43, 1992.
- 242. **Tagawa T, Dampney RA**. AT(1) receptors mediate excitatory inputs to rostral ventrolateral medulla pressor neurons from hypothalamus. *Hypertension* 34: 1301–1307, 1999.
- 243. **Tagawa T, Fontes MA, Potts PD, Allen AM, Dampney RA**. The physiological role of AT1 receptors in the ventrolateral medulla. *Braz J Med Biol Res* 33: 643–652, 2000.
- 244. **Tanabe A, Naruse M, Hara Y, Sato A, Tsuchiya K, Nishikawa T, Imaki T, Takano K**. Aldosterone antagonist facilitates the cardioprotective effects of angiotensin receptor blockers in hypertensive rats. *J Hypertens* 22: 1017–1023, 2004.

- 245. **Tanaka H, Reiling MJ, Seals DR**. Regular walking increases peak limb vasodilatory capacity of older hypertensive humans: implications for arterial structure. *J Hypertens* 16: 423–428, 1998.
- 246. **Tedesco A**, **Ally A**. Angiotensin II type-2 (AT2) receptor antagonism alters cardiovascular responses to static exercise and simultaneously changes glutamate/GABA levels within the ventrolateral medulla. *Neurosci Res* 64: 372– 379, 2009.
- 247. **Teychenne M, Costigan SA, Parker K**. The association between sedentary behaviour and risk of anxiety: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health* 15: 513, 2015.
- 248. **Tolstykh G**, **Belugin S**, **Tolstykh O**, **Mifflin S**. Responses to GABA(A) receptor activation are altered in NTS neurons isolated from renal-wrap hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 42: 732–736, 2003.
- 249. **Tsukamoto K**, **Sved AF**. Enhanced gamma-aminobutyric acid-mediated responses in nucleus tractus solitarius of hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 22: 819–825, 1993.
- 250. **Turrigiano GG, Leslie KR, Desai NS, Rutherford LC, Nelson SB**. Activitydependent scaling of quantal amplitude in neocortical neurons. *Nature* 391: 892– 896, 1998.
- 251. Uhr M, Holsboer F, Müller MB. Penetration of endogenous steroid hormones corticosterone, cortisol, aldosterone and progesterone into the brain is enhanced in mice deficient for both mdr1a and mdr1b P-glycoproteins. *J Neuroendocrinol* 14: 753–759, 2002.
- 252. **Ulrich D**, **Bettler B**. GABA(B) receptors: synaptic functions and mechanisms of diversity. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* 17: 298–303, 2007.
- 253. **Van Huysse JW**, **Amin MS**, **Yang B**, **Leenen FHH**. Salt-induced hypertension in a mouse model of Liddle syndrome is mediated by epithelial sodium channels in the brain. *Hypertension* 60: 691–696, 2012.
- 254. Véras-Silva AS, Mattos KC, Gava NS, Brum PC, Negrão CE, Krieger EM. Low-intensity exercise training decreases cardiac output and hypertension in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *Am J Physiol* 273: H2627–31, 1997.
- 255. Virdis A, Neves MF, Amiri F, Viel E, Touyz RM, Schiffrin EL. Spironolactone improves angiotensin-induced vascular changes and oxidative stress. *Hypertension* 40: 504–510, 2002.

- 256. **Vitela M, Mifflin SW**. gamma-Aminobutyric acid(B) receptor-mediated responses in the nucleus tractus solitarius are altered in acute and chronic hypertension. *Hypertension* 37: 619–622, 2001.
- 257. Vongpatanasin W, Wang Z, Arbique D, Arbique G, Adams-Huet B, Mitchell JH, Victor RG, Thomas GD. Functional sympatholysis is impaired in hypertensive humans. *J Physiol (Lond)* 589: 1209–1220, 2011.
- 258. **Wang H, Huang BS, Leenen FHH**. Brain sodium channels and ouabainlike compounds mediate central aldosterone-induced hypertension. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 285: H2516–23, 2003.
- 259. Wang H-J, Li Y-L, Gao L, Zucker IH, Wang W. Alteration in skeletal muscle afferents in rats with chronic heart failure. *J Physiol (Lond)* 588: 5033–5047, 2010.
- 260. Watanabe M, Maemura K, Kanbara K, Tamayama T, Hayasaki H. GABA and GABA receptors in the central nervous system and other organs. *Int Rev Cytol* 213: 1–47, 2002.
- 261. **World Health Organization**. *Global Status Report on Noncommunicable Diseases* 2014. 2015.
- 262. Xing J, Lu J, Li J. Augmented P2X response and immunolabeling in dorsal root ganglion neurons innervating skeletal muscle following femoral artery occlusion. *J Neurophysiol* 109: 2161–2168, 2013.
- 263. Yamauchi K, Tsuchimochi H, Stone AJ, Stocker SD, Kaufman MP. Increased dietary salt intake enhances the exercise pressor reflex. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 306: H450–4, 2014.
- 264. Yang SN, Lippoldt A, Jansson A, Phillips MI, Ganten D, Fuxe K. Localization of angiotensin II AT1 receptor-like immunoreactivity in catecholaminergic neurons of the rat medulla oblongata. *Neuroscience* 81: 503–515, 1997.
- 265. **Yao F, Sumners C, O'Rourke ST, Sun C**. Angiotensin II increases GABAB receptor expression in nucleus tractus solitarii of rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294: H2712–20, 2008.
- 266. Yatsuya H, Li Y, Hilawe EH, Ota A, Wang C, Chiang C, Zhang Y, Uemura M, Osako A, Ozaki Y, Aoyama A. Global trend in overweight and obesity and its association with cardiovascular disease incidence. *Circ J* 78: 2807–2818, 2014.
- 267. **Yin M**, **Sved AF**. Role of gamma-aminobutyric acid B receptors in baroreceptor reflexes in hypertensive rats. *Hypertension* 27: 1291–1298, 1996.

- 268. Yoneda T, Takeda Y, Usukura M, Oda N, Takata H, Yamamoto Y, Karashima S, Yamagishi M. Aldosterone breakthrough during angiotensin II receptor blockade in hypertensive patients with diabetes mellitus. *Am J Hypertens* 20: 1329–1333, 2007.
- 269. Yu Y, Wei S-G, Zhang Z-H, Gomez-Sanchez E, Weiss RM, Felder RB. Does aldosterone upregulate the brain renin-angiotensin system in rats with heart failure? *Hypertension* 51: 727–733, 2008.
- 270. Zanettini R, Bettega D, Agostoni O, Ballestra B, del Rosso G, di Michele R, Mannucci PM. Exercise training in mild hypertension: effects on blood pressure, left ventricular mass and coagulation factor VII and fibrinogen. *Cardiology* 88: 468– 473, 1997.
- 271. **Zanzinger J, Czachurski J, Seller H**. Nitric oxide in the ventrolateral medulla regulates sympathetic responses to systemic hypoxia in pigs. *Am J Physiol* 275: R33–9, 1998.
- 272. **Zhang W**, **Herrera-Rosales M**, **Mifflin S**. Chronic hypertension enhances the postsynaptic effect of baclofen in the nucleus tractus solitarius. *Hypertension* 49: 659–663, 2007.
- 273. **Zhang W**, **Mifflin S**. Chronic hypertension enhances presynaptic inhibition by baclofen in the nucleus of the solitary tract. *Hypertension* 55: 481–486, 2010.
- 274. **Zhang Z-H**, **Yu Y**, **Kang Y-M**, **Wei S-G**, **Felder RB**. Aldosterone acts centrally to increase brain renin-angiotensin system activity and oxidative stress in normal rats. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 294: H1067–74, 2008.
- 275. Zhu DN, Moriguchi A, Mikami H, Higaki J, Ogihara T. Central amino acids mediate cardiovascular response to angiotensin II in the rat. *Brain Res Bull* 45: 189– 197, 1998.
- 276. **Zito K**, **Svoboda K**. Activity-dependent synaptogenesis in the adult Mammalian cortex. *Neuron* 35: 1015–1017, 2002.